



Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Marketing Strategies to Increase Sales in Small Family-Style Restaurant Businesses

Tammira Lucas Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Advertising and Promotion Management Commons</u>, and the <u>Marketing Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Tammira Lucas

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Chad Sines, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Charles Needham, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Reginald Taylor, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Marketing Strategies to Increase Sales in Small Family-Style Restaurant Businesses

by

Tammira Lucas

MBA, Strayer University, 2012

BS, Coppin State University, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2018

Abstract

Small business owners understand the advantages of using social media as a marketing tool; however, some of these owners do not leverage social media marketing strategies to increase sales. Small business owners who fail to implement social media marketing strategies minimizes the potential to gain new customers; thus, negatively impacting sales. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore social media marketing strategies used by five small family-style restaurants in Maryland. Berry's relationship marketing theory was the conceptual framework for this study. Data collection included semistructured interviews, documents pertaining to social media marketing strategies, and social media pages and websites from the participating restaurants. These data were analyzed following Yin's 5-step analysis plan. Key themes that emerged were (a) social media platforms small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales and were most effective, (b) employees' response to social media marketing strategies small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales, and (c) relationship marketing. The implications for positive social change include the potential to increase the knowledge of future entrepreneurs and show them how technology can help them launch and grow their businesses faster creating an atmosphere of better customer services. Increasing the demand for employment can have a direct impact on decreasing the unemployment rate within the United States, particularly in the state of Maryland.

Marketing Strategies to Increase Sales in Small Family-Style Restaurant Businesses

by

Tammira Lucas

MBA, Strayer University, 2012

BS, Coppin State University, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2018

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my amazing husband and loving daughter who have sacrificed so much so I can follow my dreams of becoming a doctor. I could thank you for a lifetime. There are no words to describe my appreciation and love for you two. We did it! I also dedicate this study to my late brother. Thank you for your sacrifice and being my angel.

Acknowledgments

First, I acknowledge Jesus Christ my Lord and Savor for guiding me through all I have been through in my life and this journey. Thank you to all my committee members, Dr. Chad Sines, Dr. Charles Needham, and Dr. Reginald Taylor for your guidance and encouragement. I also want to acknowledge Dr. Ward Ulmer for believing in me. I acknowledge and give special thanks to my mentors, my pastor, and his wife (my guiding angel) for your continued prayers. To all my friends, thank you for dealing with all my tears and allowing me to miss all your milestones so I can focus.

List of Figures	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	7
Limitations	
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Relationship Marketing Theory (RM)	
Supporting Theories	14
Rival Theories	

Table of Contents

Social Media Marketing	17
Social Media Marketing Strategies	
Business Sales	41
Transition	44
Section 2: The Project	46
Purpose Statement	46
Role of the Researcher	46
Participants	49
Research Method and Design	51
Population and Sampling	55
Ethical Research	57
Data Collection Instruments	59
Data Collection Technique	61
Data Organization Technique	64
Data Analysis	66
Reliability and Validity	70
Transition and Summary	76
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	77
Introduction	77
Presentation of the Findings	77
Applications to Professional Practice	92
Implications for Social Change	94

Recommendations for Action	95
Recommendations for Further Research	97
Reflections	
Conclusion	
References	101
Appendix A: Participant Interview Questions	142
Appendix B: Multi-Case Study Protocol	143

List of Figures

Figure 1. Thematic Category 1 and Related Themes	.79
Figure 2. Review of Participants Facebook Post	.82
Figure 3. Review of Participants Instagram Post	.83
Figure 4. Thematic Category 2 and Related Themes	.84
Figure 5. Facebook User Activity	.87
Figure 6. Facebook Customer Reviews and Ratings	.88
Figure 6. Yelp Customer Reviews and Ratings	.88

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small business (SB) owners are utilizing social media for marketing, advertising, employee recruitment, and communications with clients, partners, and employees (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Achieving marketing objectives has become difficult for business owners because of media fragmentation and the increasing number of daily media exposures (Lapido, Nwagwu, & Alarpe, 2013). In particular, restaurant owners struggle with understanding how to best utilize social media for marketing (Bilgihan, Cheng, & Kandampully, 2014).

Background of the Problem

More than 99% of businesses in the United States are small businesses (Fox, 2013). The officials from the U.S. Small Business Administration reported that 50% of all small businesses close within the first 5 years because of insufficient marketing plans (Cronin-Gilmore, 2012). Small business owners are utilizing social media as a marketing tool to increase visibility to sustain their business in competitive markets (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Business owners utilizing social media platforms have access to customer information that was not previously available which allows small business owners to perform marketing tasks at minimal cost (Taneja & Toombs, 2014).

Social media is an online platform that individuals use to communicate or share information (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). The usage of social media platforms changed the way organization members directly communicate with their consumers and the way consumers perceive organizations (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Xu, Ryan, Prybutok, and Wen (2012) noted that social media users utilize forums to build connections between other users. Thorough and sophisticated preparation occurs when marketers use social media platforms for marketing as compared to traditional and mass-marketing techniques (Svatosová, 2012). The power of social media lies in the abilities of one consumer to communicate with many consumers simultaneously (Xu et al., 2012).

A family-style restaurant is a casual dining restaurant where a customer sits at a table and receives table service from waitstaff as opposed to over-the-counter service at a fast-food restaurant where a customer receives their meal to go (National Restaurant Association, 2014). Riehle, Grindy, Bruce, and Stensson (2014) reported that 32% of consumers utilize information from social media when choosing a restaurant. Implementing social media strategies to increase net sales for small family-style restaurants will ultimately increase the demand for employment.

Problem Statement

Small business owners understand the advantages of using social media as a marketing tool; however, some of these owners do not leverage social media marketing strategies to increase sales (Jones, Borgman, & Ulusoy, 2015). Seventy-four percent of small business owners do not use social media marketing strategies to gain new customers and increase sales (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). The general business problem is that failure to use social media minimizes the potential to gain new customers, thus, negatively impacting sales. The specific business problem was that some small family-style restaurant business owners lack social media marketing strategies to increase sales.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore social media marketing strategies small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales. The target population comprised five family-style restaurants small business owners, located in Maryland, who have been in business more than 2 years, and use social media marketing strategies to increase sales. The implications for social change included the potential for business owners to improve small family-style restaurant social media marketing strategies, which could increase sales and employment opportunities. Community stakeholders stand to benefit from an enhanced standard of living, realized through increased household income.

Nature of the Study

Bailey (2014) indicated that qualitative research is a multi-method for exploring and explaining human behavior, utilizing interpretive and material practices that enhance the visibility of the world. The qualitative method allowed me to obtain valuable information in establishing effective social media marketing strategies for small familystyle restaurant owners to use to increase sales. Researchers use a quantitative method to test a theory or hypothesis and collect numerical data for inferential statistical testing (Hoare & Hoe, 2013) which was not appropriate for this study. Researchers use mixed methods to incorporate both qualitative and quantitative data in a research study (Molina-Azorin, Lopez-Gamero, Pereira-Moliner, & Pertusa-Ortega, 2012). The mixed method was not appropriate, because I did not employ a quantitative method.

Yin (2013) indicated researchers use a case study design to explore a phenomenon

or case in a comprehensive and practical environment. A multiple case study design was preferred over a single case study when the study involves examining conditions for similar findings that researchers can replicate or examine conditions for contrasting cases (Cope, 2015). Other qualitative designs included phenomenology and ethnography. Phenomenological studies are useful to researchers who explore the lived experiences of individuals about a particular phenomenon (Kafle, 2013). Small family-style restaurant owners who use social media marketing strategies to increase revenue was not an experience or event that warranted conducting a phenomenological study; therefore, the qualitative phenomenological study did not fit the form of my research question. Leedy and Ormrod (2013) indicated researchers use ethnographic design to focus on cultural aspects of a target demographic. The scope of this study did include cultural aspects of a target demographic; therefore, the ethnographic design did not fit my study. A multiple case study was the most appropriate design for this research project because the research question and the focus of the study aligned with Yin's (2014) conditions for conducting a case study.

Research Question

What social media marketing strategies do small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales?

Interview Questions

- 1. What social media platforms are you using to increase sales?
- 2. What method do you find works best to increase sales?
- 3. How do your employees respond to your different strategies to increase

sales?

4. What additional information can you provide regarding the social media strategies that you have implemented to increase net sales?

Conceptual Framework

Berry (2002) first mentioned the concept of relationship marketing (RM) theory in 1983. Relationship marketing, as a concept, is attracting, maintaining and, in multiservice organizations, enhancing customer relationships (Berry, 2002). Berry (2002) identified five RM strategies to include: core service marketing, relationship customization, service augmentation, relationship pricing, and internal marketing. Sheth and Parvatiyar (1995) proposed the basic tenant of RM is consumers' choice reduction. Consumers' choice reduction tenant in RM theory involves consumers consistently patronizing a brand based on relationships, which ultimately reduces consumer choices when purchasing a product or service. In RM theory, organizational goals involve creating consumer champions or advocates who will recommend the company (Bhattacharya & Sen, 2003). Hunt, Arnett, and Madhavaram (2006) proposed that the purpose of RM theory is to provide systematized structure to explain the RM phenomena. Using RM theory, Hunt et al. (2006) determined that consumers interact with businesses through relational exchanges when they have benefits that exceed the cost of a product or service (Hunt et al., 2006).

RM theory is relevant to social media because more than half of consumers who use online tools such as social media to make purchasing decisions interact with a business on social networking sites and business owners. This means capitalizing on this new promotional dimension to strengthen their customer relationships (Rapp, Beitelspacher, Grewal, & Hughes, 2013). As applied to this study, social media marketing media strategies align under the service augmentation relationship marketing strategy. Berry (2002) argued service augmentation involves business owners providing customers with extra bonuses within their service to differentiate their business from competitors.

Operational Definitions

Brand community: A brand community is a collection of people with a shared interest in a specific brand, creating a subculture around the brand with its values, myths, hierarchy, rituals, and vocabulary (Gummerus, Liljander, Weman, & Pihlstrom, 2012).

Electronic word-of-mouth (EWOM): Electronic WOM is an informal discussion among consumers regarding products and services via the Internet (Teng, Wei Khong, Wei Goh, & Yee, 2014).

Facebook: Facebook is a social tool that helps people communicate more efficiently with their network of friends and relatives (Rocha, Jansen, Lofti, & Fraga, 2013).

Family-style restaurant: A family-style restaurant is a casual dining restaurant that delivers table service as opposed to counter service, charging higher prices than fast food restaurants (National Restaurant Association, 2014).

Marketing strategy: Marketing strategy is how an owner of an organization will engage customers, prospects, and competitors in the market arena for success (Shaw, 2012).

Return on investment (ROI): Return on investment is something of value that has resulted from an investment of time, energy, or money (Gilfoil, Aukers, & Jobs, 2015).

Small business (SB): A small business is a company having 500 employees or fewer and generating \$7 million or less in average annual receipts (sba.gov, 2014).

Social media (SM): Social media are platforms, such as content-sharing sites, blogs, and social networking sites, on which users can exchange and share information online (Weeks & Holbert, 2013).

Social media marketing (SMM): Social media marketing is a tool that marketers use as a voice to communicate with media, customers, peers, and target customers through the act of using social networks, online communities, blogs, wikis, or any other collaborative Internet form of media for marketing, sales, public relations, and customer service (Srivastav & Shah, 2013).

Word-of-Mouth Marketing (WOMM): Word-of-mouth marketing is oral, personto-person communication between a receiver and a communicator whom the receiver perceives as non-commercial, concerning a brand, a product, or a service (Kietzmann & Canhoto, 2013).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are ideas considered as true despite a lack of proof (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). One of my assumptions in the proposed study was that family-style restaurant small business owners would provide honest feedback during the interviews with an understanding that their responses are confidential. The second assumption was

that participants would agree to contribute to the study and follow through with their commitments. The third assumption was that the design of the interview questions was appropriate for the study purpose and would elicit thoughtful responses from the participants.

Limitations

Leedy and Ormrod (2013) defined limitations as potential weaknesses beyond the researcher's control that may influence the results of the study. One limitation of this qualitative multiple case study was that data would only reflect strategies small familystyle restaurant business owners utilize and might not reflect strategies other restaurant type owners utilize. A second limitation of this study was the data would only reflect strategies that family-style restaurant business owners utilize that were successful and would not reflect strategies that were not successful, but could potentially be successful for other family-style restaurant owners. A third limitation was personal bias. Personal bias could unintentionally have had an effect on the data during the interviewing and analysis process. Moustakas (1994) commented that identifying or exposing personal views or opinions could reduce bias when interviewing participants. The level of existence of personal bias in research influences the credibility perception of the data (Tuohy, Cooney, Dowling, Murphy, & Sixmith, 2013). Regardless of the efforts taken to identify personal views or opinions to mitigate personal bias, personal bias was unlikely to eliminate it.

Delimitations

Ody-Brasier and Vermeulen (2014) noted that delimitations are boundaries researchers impose to narrow the scope of the study. Using delimitations, I defined the boundaries of the study and furthermore, examined propositions within my study (Yin, 2014). The first delimitation for this study was the sample size of five small family-style restaurant owners. One of the restrictions of qualitative research is that researchers might use a small sample size, because they need more time to collect qualitative data (Yin, 2015). The sample population of small family-style restaurants was the second delimitation in this study. The third delimitation was geographical location; all participants were from Maryland. Another delimitation was the participants were small family-style restaurant owners who have successfully used social media strategies to increase sales.

Significance of the Study

Small family-style restaurant owners could expand their understanding of effective social media marketing strategies that will create and maintain relationships with customers and increase sales. Small family-style restaurant owners could benefit from this study in three ways: increase sales, create new social media marketing strategies, and strengthen relationships through social media.

Contribution to Business Practice

Small family-style restaurant owners must continue to implement social media marketing strategies to reach customers and increase sales (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Schaupp and Belanger (2014) determined that small business owners who engage in social media marketing build relationships and trust with customers that translates into increased sales. Engaging in social media marketing can help SB owners generate exposure and increase traffic at a much lower cost than traditional marketing approaches (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014).

Consumers are also able to give instant feedback to businesses through social media (Marshall, Moncrief, Rudd, & Lee, 2012). Social media use can alter the level of communication and interaction between SB owners and consumers (Pookulangara & Koesler, 2011). Consumers of small family-style restaurants can communicate through social media their questions or concerns, and family-style small restaurant owners can directly respond to the consumers' questions. Small family-style restaurant owners could use the results of this study to increase sales using social media marketing strategies.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential for restaurant owners to increase their ability to implement cause-related marketing campaigns. Causerelated marketing is a social responsibility program in which owners of companies donate to nonprofit organizations with purchases from the company or charitable donations to the organization (Chanana & Gill, 2015). A restaurant owner can increase revenue and brand loyalty while implementing positive social change through cause-related social media marketing.

Social media marketing for SB owners of family-style restaurants can create positive social change by business owners showing future entrepreneurs how technology can help them launch and grow their businesses faster. Yun (2013) noted small businesses make economic growth more sustainable through job creation. Increasing the demand for employment can have a direct impact on decreasing the unemployment rate within the United States, particularly in the state of Maryland. Increasing net sales does not only influence individuals who need employment, but also those interested in opening a small business.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The literature review includes a conceptual framework and highlights several recurring themes discovered when reviewing scholarly literature: relationship marketing theory, social exchange theory, diffusion of innovation theory, social media marketing strategies, social media marketing and business sustainability. References within anticipated graduation data of 2017 are 246, or 85% of the total references, and 90% of the articles are peer-reviewed. The number of references in the literature review is 132. The data collected consists of journals, formative works (i.e., books, along with a dissertation), and Internet data from industry organizations.

The data collection process began with keyword searches using the following databases: Business Source Complete/Premier, ABI/INFORM Complete, Emerald, SAGE, ProQuest, Thoreau, and Google Scholar. I accessed these databases through Walden University Library and used different combinations of keywords related to the sections of the literature review to locate research studies. Some of these keywords included: *social media, social media marketing, marketing techniques, small business, small restaurant businesses, Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, customer loyalty, branding, small business marketing, sales and social media, social media strategies, and marketing for the section of the section.*

for restaurants. Eighty-seven percent of the articles had a publication date between 2012 and 2017, and 90% of the articles were peer-reviewed. Using current literature ensured reliability and validity of the study. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore what strategies small family-style restaurant business owners use to market their brands on social media.

Relationship Marketing Theory (RM)

RM theory is a widely acceptable theory and approach to business practices in various sectors that may prove beneficial in developing strategies for customer satisfaction, customer loyalty, and thus barriers to competition (Gupta & Sahu, 2012; Moore & Bowden-Everson, 2012; Østergaard & Fitchett, 2012; Vauterin, Linnanen, & Marttila, 2011). RM theory developed as an alternative theory to traditional marketing theories when researchers and marketers recognized a gap in marketing theory that required marketers to develop and focus on the emotional exchanges between two parties (Østergaard & Fitchett, 2012). The purpose of employing RM theory is to allow business owners to use a strategic process to develop and maintain a profitable relationship portfolio (Catoiu & Tichindelean, 2012). Small family-style restaurant owners should understand the importance of building strong relationships with consumers via social media to enhance their brand loyalty. Enhancing relationships with customers and elements of the brand community can enhance relationships and increase contacts between the brand and the customers to influence the brand (Laroche, Habibi, Richard, & Sankaranarayanan, 2013). Kang, Tang, and Foire (2014) noted that active participation on restaurant Facebook pages has a positive influence on brand trust. Given the

interactive effects and social media usage, small business owners with strong customer relationships (Kang et al., 2014) have the best advantage with social media. Kang et al. (2014) noted small business owners could use social media as a reinforcing mechanism to build stronger relationships.

In RM theory, organizational goals involve creating a consumer champion or advocate that will recommend the company (Bhattacharya & Sen, 2003). Consumer identification, customer acquisition, customer retention, customer development, and tracking consumer information are steps in the process of relationship marketing small business leaders implement to maintain lifelong relationships (Khan, 2014a). Marketing executives who implement relationship marketing may improve marketing productivity, increase profits from 25-85%, and decrease customer attrition by 5% (Khan, 2014a). Although some researchers considered RM theory simply a modification of original marketing concepts, others have noted differences between RM theory and other marketing theories significant enough to conclude RM itself a separate marketing theory and practice (Gummesson & Grönroos, 2012). Owners can use brands and products to revitalize and innovate customer relationships (Bettiol, Di Maria, & Finotto, 2012).

Various scholars presented alternative theories to enhance the understanding of social media and consumer behavior. Rapp, Beitelspacher, Grewal, and Hughes (2013) studied how social media affects consumer interactions with sellers and retailers and found social media use by owners is most active from those with strong customer relationships. Consumers' social media usage on retailer's loyalty were revealed through research, which determined social media applications enable companies to provide information on products and services that lead to greater loyalty (Rapp et al., 2013). When online interactions increase, so does brand loyalty (Rapp et al., 2013). Social media usage does not just improve reliability; Rapp et al. (2013) suggested that retailers who engage in social media see a dramatic improvement in performance.

Naylor, Lamberton, and West (2012) studied the effect of likes on social media and the decision for online supporters to hide or reveal their demographic characteristics to other consumers. Navlor et al. (2012) suggested that social media could influence a brand's identity transparent to its supporters and prospective customers in ways that have no offline analog. Karahanna, Xu, and Zhang (2015) studied how the needs that underlie psychological ownership collectively motivate individuals' behavior. Interviews of business owners indicated that there was a variety of reasons consumers utilize social media to make purchases. Psychological ownership motivation can drive the use of social media to satisfy the underlying needs that are the psychological roots of psychological ownership (Karahanna et al., 2015). Before social media, consumers were aware of brands based on a spokesperson or advertisement in other avenues. With the advancement of social media, consumers are now able to connect by way of social media and get a visual of what the brand embodies (Naylor et al., 2012). Stephen and Galak (2012) argued that research has shown social media can translate into increase sales although Naylor et al. (2012) argued Facebook likes do not add any value.

Supporting Theories

George Homans introduced the social exchange theory (SET) in 1961 (Cook & Rice, 2003). The major concept of SET is that individuals are likely to repeat their

behaviors if they predict a positive outcome (Cook & Rice, 2003). Archibald and Clark (2014) suggested individuals utilize social media on the perceived benefits they will receive. SET indicates that customers take an active part in brand interactions through a dynamic and iterative process of brand interactions such as brand mentions, Facebook likes, or discussions with others (Nysveen & Pedersen, 2014). Chen, Chen, and Farn (2010) noted the concept of SET also indicates that satisfied patrons will reciprocate services and assistance to other members of virtual communities.

Under SET, users will perceive benefits from sharing and exchanging knowledge online (Shiau & Luo, 2012). Users of social media generally interact with other online users to maximize rewards and minimize costs (Shiau & Luo, 2012). Consumers often expect satisfaction with both products and services in purchases online (Shiau & Luo, 2012). Thus, applying SET was not appropriate to explore the problem in this study as the concept of SET examines the behaviors of individuals based on their prediction of positive outcomes (Chen et al., 2010).

Under SET, online users perceive that they will receive benefits for sharing and exchanging knowledge online (Shiau & Luo, 2012). Social media does not have financial implications for consumers; therefore, the motivation to exchange information could vary and limit the findings in this study (Rui, Shi, & Whinston, 2014). Another limitation to this theory is that it does not examine the relationship aspect of marketing which has a significant effect on human behavior in marketing (Clark & Melancon, 2013). SET supports RM theory, because under SET a key assumption is that relationship maintence and growth determines relationship outcome evaluation (Wulf & Odekerken-Schroder,

2001). Under SET, individuals engage in relationships because either they genuinely want to or because they believe, they have no other option (Wufl & Odekerken-Schroder, 2001).

Another supporting theory of RM theory is commitment-trust theory introduced by Morgan and Hunt (1994). The major concept of the commitment-trust theory is that when both commitment and trust are present, they produce outcomes that promote efficiency, productivity, and effectiveness; therefore, commitment and trust lead directly to cooperative behaviors that are conducive to relationship marketing success (Morgan & Hunt, 1994). According to the commitment-trust theory, trust and relationship commitment are central to successful relationship marketing because they encourage marketers to work at preserving relationship investments, resist attractive short-term alternatives, and view potentially high-risk options as being prudent (Mukherjee & Nath, 2007). The use of social media alters the roles of engagement and the relationships between buyers and sellers (Sashi, 2012). Commitment-trust theory supports relationshipmarketing theory because customer engagement requires the establishment of trust and commitment in buyer-seller relationships (Sashi, 2012).

Rival Theories

Rogers (1983) developed the diffusion of innovations theory (DOI) in 1962 to understand how individuals adopt innovation as it relates to technology. Social media is a new technology that can enhance marketing techniques for small businesses, but small business owners must accept the new technology (Archibald & Clark, 2014). Innovation theories, such as DOI, support the positive use of social media marketing as a means to increase sales, reduce cost, and connect with customers (Erdogmus & Cicek, 2012). Archibald and Clark (2014) concluded that sociological factors influence a person's acceptance of innovations. The diffusion of innovations theory may appear as a key factor in understanding how small business owners adopt new technologies (Thompson, Williams, & Thomas, 2013). The diffusion of innovations theory explains the different adoption rates (Ifinedo, 2011; Rogers, 2003).

The diffusion of innovations theory explains elements, such as potential rewards and peer pressure, which motivate social media users (Mergel & Bretschneider, 2013). Rogers's (1995) theory provided a context for the adoption process and serves as a catalyst for new ideas, products, and services from decision makers (Ratcliff & Doshi, 2013). A limitation to this theory is the focus on how individuals and communities adopt ideas and technologies (Rogers, 1995).

Researchers commonly employ the uses and gratification (U&G) theory to understand media usage. In the U&G theory, media users choose their level of participation and decide whether to engage in certain media based on their sociopsychological needs (Krause, North, & Heritage, 2014). Media users select media based on their needs and continue to use that medium as long as their needs are satisfied (Ku, Chen, & Zhang, 2013). Researchers use the U&G theory to explore consumer context and behavior.

Social Media Marketing

Social media marketing is a marketing tool that does not include high advertising costs or an extremely high amount of time and is a strategy of doing beneficial and

costless business marketing (Rugova & Prenaj, 2016). Social media marketing caused businesses to form separate strategies from traditional marketing strategies (Ramsaran-Fowdar & Fowdar, 2013). Shi and Wojnicki (2014) studied the drivers behind online referrals and investigated the effectiveness of intrinsic versus extrinsic motivations for consumers' online social network referrals, specifically across opinion leaders and nonopinion leaders. Utilizing a unique data set, the study indicated that consumers were not inspired to refer a company website to their social networks based on intrinsic behaviors (Shi & Wojnicki, 2014). Business owners may utilize social media marketing as an integrated component in a marketing communications campaign as an ongoing corporate communications channel and/or as a series of micro campaigns specifically designed for digital exposure for a variety of marketing objectives including branding, customer relationship management, and sales promotions (Ashley & Tuten, 2015). However, business owners must understand that large numbers of fans do not guarantee the success of social media marketing; instead, timing and dialogue are the key factors, because consumers utilize social media to contribute to their psychological well-being (Ashley & Tuten, 2015).

The use of social media by restaurant owners provides access to a new way of marketing their products and communicating with potential customers in a bi-directional quickly, cheaply, and with the ability to offer a warm welcome to a target audience (Sanchís Verdeguer, Peiró-Signes, & Segarra-Oña, 2014). Social media marketing in restaurants includes a different approach than traditional marketing, as social media involves interacting directly with customers and public bi-directionally (Sanchís

Verdeguer et al., 2014). Karimi and Naghibi (2015) noted the main purposes of using social media marketing are the amplification of word-of-mouth marketing, market research, general marketing, idea generation and new product development, coinnovation, customer service, public relations, employee communications, and reputation management. Social media platforms foster communication around brands and products, enhancing positive, as well as negative, word-of-mouth around a business and its products and services (Karimi & Naghibi, 2015).

Social media marketing helps to achieve traditional goals through non-traditional ways using creativity, community, and relationships instead of using a lot of money to achieve marketing goals (Rugova & Prenaj, 2016). Andzulis, Panagopoulous, and Rapp (2012) suggested business owners determine the appropriate goals associated with the social media implementation prior to using the platform. Small business owners must determine whether implementation will add value to the consumer relationships (Andezulis et al., 2012). Customers should receive, or at the least perceive, value from a firm's social media efforts. Social media marketing methods are powerful guerrilla marketing strategies and have become a very effective way to drive targeted traffic to companies' websites or blogs (Rugova & Prenaj, 2016).

Wallace et al. (2014) studied the marketing approach with the observation that many marketers are obsessed with determining the real value of a Facebook fan. However, as Wallace et al. (2014) observed in the article *Who Likes You ... and Why? A Typology of Facebook fan* a host of blogs exist, but websites and articles offering advice about increasing the number of likes on Facebook may not provide information on why consumers become fans of certain brands (Wallace et al., 2014). Wallace et al. (2014) suggested that the use of varying degrees of brand loyalty, brand love, WOMM, and self-expressive brands attract different customers.

The four types of Facebook fans offer a different kind of brand acknowledgment and engagement. The first type of Facebook fan is the fanatic who highly engages on Facebook while on or offline (Lapointe, 2012). The second type of fan is the utilitarian who likes brands to gain incentives but have no real connection with the brand (Lapointe, 2012). The third type of fan is the self-expressive fan who likes brands to make an impression on others (Lapointe, 2012). The last type of fan is authentic with no concerns of an image whose likes are genuine (Lapointe, 2012). Family-style restaurant owners should provide content to meet each type of Facebook fans' needs. As restaurant customers increase their participation on a restaurant Facebook page, for information seeking communication with other members, their trust and commitment toward restaurant brands are likely to be enhanced, ultimately increasing sales (Kang, Tang & Foire, 2015).

Commentators have noted that managers are obsessed with the value of a fan metric (Lapointe, 2012). Most research focuses on fan behavior (e.g., counting the number of likes), rather than the profile of audiences reached. As Lapointe (2012) noted, SB owners should acknowledge that all fans are different when attempting to determine the value of a fan. Little information exists about the complex relationship between Facebook fans and their liked brands (Nelson-Field, Riebe, & Sharp, 2012). Family-style restaurant owners can utilize metrics to enhance advertisement campaigns. Gaber and Wright (2014) revealed fast food restaurant marketers could execute effective advertising campaigns on Facebook by utilizing metrics.

Small business owners should implement social media marketing strategies to communicate effectively to consumers (Karimi & Naghini, 2015). Small business owners utilizing social media can utilize analytics and metrics to evaluate and improve their message based on their customers' needs. Schulze, Scholer, and Skiera (2015) suggested customizing marketing campaigns for specific products and services of a business is the key to successful social media marketing. Whiting and Deshpande (2016) determined social media marketing strengthens brand pride and relationships, which is healthy for a company because when customer relationships are strong; it increases their word-ofmouth marketing and results in higher sales.

Marketing on social media is affordable because joining the platforms is free (Herman, 2015). Chauhan and Pillai (2013) determined that the form in which business owners present messages on social media impacts customer engagement. Business owners should monitor the amount of content they are placing on social media platforms, because posting too much content can annoy consumers and lead to poor brand loyalty and word-of-mouth marketing (Hutter, Hautz, Dennhardt, & Fuller, 2013). Parson (2013) suggests postings requesting feedback from consumers are more appropriate when brands are conducting market research for products or services. SB owners can utilize social media marketing to reach a broader customer base and maintain relationships with established consumers because of the around the clock marketing ability. Taneja and Toombs (2014) suggest that SB owners participate in casual and formal networking as a fundamental piece of social media marketing. SB owners should concentrate on networking and preferences within their social media platform to determine the impact the network has on the audience (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Networking through social media involves establishing relationships with customers and businesses to increase competition. Alharbie (2015) noted small business owners utilizing social media have an opportunity to get to know their potential customers and find ways to meet their wants and needs.

Restaurant businesses are the second largest employer in the United States; however, 67% of restaurants fail within the first 3 years of operation (Frazer, 2012). Information taken from the U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA) states 50% of all small businesses close within the first 5 years because of insufficient and poorly executed marketing plans (Cronin-Gilmore, 2012). For SB owners of family-style restaurants to strengthen their competitive position, they should implement effective marketing strategies that will improve profitability (Desai, 2013). One of the biggest challenges for SB owners is in relationship building with customers through marketing because of resource constraints (Fiore, Niehm, Hurst, Jihyeong, & Sadachar, 2013). SB owners of family-style restaurants should implement technology, such as social media to engage and communicate with customers (Rowley, 2012). Social media marketing is a great way to add an implicit consumer endorsement of a brand (Keller & Fay, 2012). Zailskaite-Jakste and Kuvykaite (2013) found applying social media for brand equity as a marketing focus increases revenue and profits. A social media strategy created by small business owners is often effective within an organization. Agnihotri et al. (2012) found that various types of communication amongst salespeople determine the relationship with customers. Levy (2011) suggested that social media strategy should define business goals, target the particular use of social media by the target customers, consider the competitors' strategies, track market events, and set goals and milestones to track progress.

Owners of businesses can utilize social media to secure a reputation, increase sales, involve consumers in the brand creation process, expand brand awareness, provide associations that are more positive, and increase customer loyalty to a brand (Zailskaite-Jakste & Kuvykaite, 2013). Zailskaite-Jakste and Kuvykaite (2013) found that communication in social media could influence brand equity experience, brand awareness, and brand image. Quality is a prerequisite to effective communication in social media. Zailskaite-Jakste and Kuvykaite's study suggested managing proper communication in social media has a direct impact on establishing brand awareness and forming a favorable brand image. Owners of family-style restaurants must understand that communication has the biggest impact on brand equity and, therefore, must consider a good communication strategy that connects with their target customers. Hanaysha (2016) found restaurant owners who utilize social media advertising had loyal customers and by using social media as marketing communication tool, restaurant owners can enrich their communication with customers and develop better customer loyalty day by day.

Gilfoil et al. (2015) found that social media ROI is measurable if planned carefully; however, SB owners should understand that real financial ROI only happens when a sales conversion takes place in the marketing or sales campaign with the right technology. Small business owners can utilize analytics tools within social media sites and marketing approaches to better define ROI (Geho & Dangelo, 2012). Like most other successful operations in the business world, process control, and ownership is critical; therefore, effective planning and implementation of social media involves keeping operational and functional goals in mind (Gilfoil et al., 2015).

Social Media Marketing Strategies

Social media platforms are valuable tools when business owners implement strategies for marketing purposes (Schlinke & Crain, 2013). Before investing in social media for business purposes, SB owners need to ensure that the chosen platforms will meet their needs. Social media sites are inexpensive and, more often than not, are completely free to use (Whiting & Williams, 2013). Schaupp and Belanger (2014) noted that 66% of SB owners strongly agree that social media is necessary for their business. A key component of any successful social media strategy is having a strategy for great content (Schlinke & Crain, 2010).

Pliska (2012) noted small business owners should set clear goals and objectives before deciding what social media platforms to use for marketing purposes. An important component of social media strategies in business is fostering relationships between consumers and companies. The use of social media platforms provides business owners several options for reaching potential customers: communication, collaboration, and creating value for customers (Carlson & Lee, 2015). Whiting and Williams (2013) provided a generous and comprehensive understanding of why consumers utilize social media, which can help SB owners penetrate the market and increase their consumer base. Succeeding in social media marketing implementation depends on knowing and understanding where most conversations are occurring (Castronovo & Huang, 2012).

Consistently monitoring the magnitude of communications and engagement amongst members is a way to measure effectively the social media program (Castronovo & Huang, 2012). Firm employees can determine whether social media campaigns are effective at measuring and comparing the positive buzz generated by the increased sales of products or services (Castronovo & Huang, 2012). Castronovo and Huang (2012) proposed an alternative marketing model to provide markets with a framework that effectively leverages the efficiencies and interactions of word-of-mouth marketing (WOMM) through social media. Some marketers believe social media is a powerful tool because of consumer-generated communication, which creates WOMM (Wang & Chang, 2013). Social media is intensifying how WOMM is spreading. Meuter, McCabe, and Curran (2013) described the evolution of WOMM since the 1940s in their study and introduced the coproduction model, in which a consumer spread WOMM to other consumers with consumers ultimately influencing each other. WOMM is an effective form of marketing and small business owners should encourage satisfied customers to post positive reviews on social media sites by offering incentives, such as discounts and gifts (Kumar, 2012). Social media users are transforming WOMM to the network coproduction model, as described by Meuter et al. (2013), since representatives of

companies and customers are influencing the sales of products or services. The power of electronic WOM (eWOM) and brand loyalty has a direct correlation (Gilfoil et al., 2015). Whiting and Deshphande (2016) noted that a method of succeeding in SMM is to use WOMM to market products rather than exclusively relying on the company's content.

Owners of small businesses need to comprehend the psychographics of target markets and understand it is not the requirement for insights as much as the need to build up a relationship with clients (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). To build up a relationship, SB owners should connect with their clients by implementing social media into their marketing strategy. Ciprian (2015) suggested social media is effective, inexpensive, and gives SB owners the ability to reach a large population of consumers.

Social media marketing utilization is a common in organizations and SB owners can utilize social media to strengthen their customer base and to attract new business opportunities (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Taneja and Toombs (2014) argued competition for small businesses derives from the Internet and not from traditional associations. Bakeman and Hanson (2012) demonstrated that just 26% of small businesses are using social media effectively and efficiently to create new customers and sales.

Entrepreneurs and top managers must grasp social media as a new genre of customer interaction and distinguish more ways of fueling the future development of their organization based on various social media platforms (Roy, Maxwell, & Carson, 2014). Schaupp and Belanger (2014) noted that developing social media strategies allows small businesses to create new ways to communicate with their customers. Social media platforms changed consumer conduct where simple correspondence has evolved into an intelligent correspondence (Roy et al., 2014). Through the intelligent correspondence, all participants are producing esteem in a communitarian domain that goes past the formal borders that traditionally separate internal correspondence from the external communication (Roy et al., 2014). SB owners can use various social media platforms to share data, add valuable content, and concentrate on growing new products and services.

Chou (2014) indicated that online brand communities remain on a social media platform enabled by a plethora of information. The characteristics of social media can have a significant influence on brand equity by enhancing the relationships between a company and consumer (Chou, 2014). Consumers associate with brands they like most because of social media platforms, including, yet not restricted to, Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and YouTube (VanAuken, 2015). Small business owners should focus on improving their relevance to social media to build and sustain long-term business success (Carlson & Lee, 2015).

Chou (2014) measured online brand community participants' perceptions of social media characteristics, customer relationships, and brand equity to examine the influence of each. Information and communication technology enhance social network platforms, which allows people to establish an identity and share values quickly in the virtual community. With more company personnel developing online brand communities to deepen customer relationships and enhance brand equity, Chou (2014) endorses the positive marketing value of online brand community management. The research results show that brand equity enhances online community customer relationships, which in turn

strengthens the social media characteristics of knowledge sharing mechanisms and platform quality.

Edwin, Chandramohan, Rao, and Rao (2014) studied social media marketing in small businesses. Edwin et al. (2014) found several advantages for small businesses to market on social media, including the affluence of customer acquisition and direct customer interaction. Numerous SB owners are not dedicating their endeavors to social media marketing, frequently because of time restrictions of the business managers (Edwin et al., 2014).

Economic uncertainties have global brands utilizing social media more because of the little capital investment requirements (Samanta, 2012). Srivastav and Shah (2013) indicated that a social media platform is a useful tool to promote brands and provides identity to what product or services business owners should offer. Social media strategies, such as researching and identifying social media keywords, help business owners gain a better picture of how to efficiently construct and communicate their message, ultimately driving traffic to a business website by providing valuable content (Srivastav & Shah, 2013). Papasolomou and Melanthiou (2012) found that social media is a platform that includes two-way conversations between consumers and marketers. Papasolomou and Melanthiou (2012) recommend that firm managers focus their efforts on interesting content and engagement with their customers, as this will cause customers to become more receptive toward marketing efforts from firm managers that market their favorite brands. The key point is managers should use social media to talk with customers instead of talking at them as with traditional media sources (Papasolomou & Melanthiou, 2012). Producing valuable content will help organizations increase their scope to customers worldwide with expenses that no one has ever considered (Roy et al., 2014).

Another social media marketing strategy involves understanding the sources of trust in online information provided by sources social media users may or may not know about (Vinerean, Cetina, Dumitrescu, & Tichindelean, 2013). Small business owners should identify and target different types of customers as well as take the initiative to recognize and highlight customers' interests, because social media sites influence online shopping. For small business owners working towards success in social media marketing, they first need to create a buyer persona and should then develop and continuously adjust their online marketing strategy according to the interests of customers for long-term success (Venkatesh et al., 2013). Saxena and Khanna (2013) conducted a quantitative study of the effectiveness of social networking sites in promoting products and services. Business owners utilizing social networking should reduce any content that would irritate their customers (Saxena & Khanna, 2013). To successfully market on social media, marketers should address the attitudes, lifestyles, and behaviors of their target market while concentrating on the various market segments they are serving across the globe (Pookulangara & Koesler, 2011).

Kumar and Mirchandani (2012) suggested a viable social media strategy should naturally characterize the marketing goals, assess the opportunities, and select a suitable manifestation of social media to convey. Social media networking sites are equipped with analytical capabilities that help business owners analyze their marketing message and how the message is affecting their social media marketing strategies (Kumar & Mirchandani, 2012). Kumar and Mirchandani developed and implemented a seven-step method to identify the net influence exercised by a user in a social network to predict the user's ability to generate a viral spread of information. Feng and Papatla (2011) recommended that business owners have a strong social review site presence and must be proactive with customer complaints. Business owners can utilize the seven-step method to identify the right social media conversations to engage individuals to promote WOMM for genuine sales and to build return on investment (Kumar & Mirchandani, 2012). Customers find WOMM sincere and realistic, and they are likely to follow WOMM recommendations (Kim & Ko, 2012; Wang et al., 2012).

The first three of Kumar and Mirchandani's (2012) seven steps to social media success suggest business owners should monitor the conversations and identify influential individuals who can spread messages and identify the factors shared by prominent individuals. Kumar and Mirchandani's (2012) first two steps to social media success suggest business owners should locate potential influencers who have interests relevant to the campaign and recruit those influencers with interests relevant to the campaign to talk about the company's product or service. Word-of-mouth consumer conversations about brand occur 75% face-to-face, 15% via phone, and 10% online, with an estimated 15 billion brand impressions every week in the United States (Keller & Fay, 2012). Small family-style restaurant owners can implement online marketing as a communication platform to build relationships and customer loyalty (Tabaku & Mersini, 2014). SB owners can retain current clients and attract new ones by offering competitive rewards for positive reviews about their products or services on social media (Kumar & Mirchandani, 2012). By observing and following positive word-of-mouth marketing and connecting it to items and brand growth, SB owners can achieve compelling social media rankings and begin to see improved financial growth, increased client engagement, and expanded brand awareness (Kumar & Mirchandani, 2012).

Brand extension and reputation management are two crucial public relation requirements that social media tools can fulfill (Schlinke & Crain, 2013). Kim, Koh, Cha, and Lee (2015) studied the impact of social media on a restaurant's value within the restaurant industry and found a positive linear relationship between a restaurant's social media activity and firm value. Increased positive customer engagement via social media can influence a restaurant's revenue (Kim et al., 2015). Rodriguez, Peterson, and Krishnan (2012) found that using social media in business has a positive relationship with increases in sales, creating opportunities, and managing relationships.

Danciu (2013) stated the Internet and technologies, such as mobile devices, are revolutionizing consumers' focus on industries, companies, and consumers. Social media users interact, socialize, and access information on companies, products, pricing, and availability through social media platforms. Small business owners should strategically implement the use of social media marketing (Danciu, 2013). Social media marketing is a way to add an implicit consumer endorsement of a brand (Keller & Fay, 2012). Danciu (2013) projected that 50 billion devices will connect to social media platforms by the year 2020 with each consumer connected through seven devices. SB owners who do not have a mobile marketing strategy will miss a significant market share and revenue. Applying social media for brand equity as a marketing focal point increases revenue and profits (Zailskaite-Jakste & Kuvykaite, 2013).

Wang (2012) argued that social media is a highly complex form of marketing. With the widespread trend of social media uses within social and professional realms, business owners should understand the risks associated with the use of social media. Understanding various types of risks, SB owners can use social media to help grow or sustain their financials. Paid advertisements and endorsements that appear alongside the platform is advertorial exposure. The challenge of putting brands and related stimuli within a target consumer segment's sensory range is achievable by applying existing best practices and guidelines advising media purchase decisions. Communication exposure relates to new information and stimuli arising from interactions and communication with other users on the social media platform. To effectively attract and retain the attention of consumers with the intention of positioning brand messages on social media platforms, owners should tailor their messages in a manner that is best suited for social media (Wang, 2012). Owners of companies should accept that they no longer have control over the majority of the discussions and communications about their brand online among consumers.

The use of social media by small business owners is heavily dependent upon the degree to which business owners can utilize social media sites and their offerings. The use of social media is crucial for small business owners with limited means and skills (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Social media affords SBs an opportunity to reach a large population of potential consumers. Marketing professionals are well versed in all social

networking mediums (e.g., Twitter and Facebook) (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Platforms that are relatively new have already garnered significant attention (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2013). Internal cohesiveness is vital to the success of small businesses and their social media campaign efforts that contribute primarily to their penetration in the social media market (Toombs & Harlow, 2014).

The use of social media by small business owners also offers companies a relative advantage (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2013). The use of new communication tools allows organizational owners to reach their customers faster and more frequently, creating a more honest and open dialog, which leads to more relevant feedback (Barnes & Jacobsen, 2013). Current customers, prospective customers, fans, and critics of products are several types of consumers who participate in social media (Brooks, Heffner, & Henderson, 2014). Social media communications influence product branding and customer relationships positively or negatively depending on how the company representatives participate in the discussions. Effectively understanding how to interact in the social media conversations as well as gathering knowledge from these conversations can help to influence product branding and customer relationships positively (Brooks et al., 2014). The viral marketing concept has assisted company owners trying to reach various prospective consumer groups (Brooks et al., 2014). Controlling and measuring the outcomes of the social media marketing helps business owners understand how efficient the social media marketing strategies are. Owners need to determine whether the strategy is working or not (Rugova & Prenaj, 2016). Business owners should seek an

understanding of why a customer will or will not buy a product or service, which is crucial for establishing a competitive edge in the business industry (Brooks et al., 2014).

Yadav and Pavlou (2014) indicated that framework technology includes some communication technologies, devices, and infrastructure related to the Internet. Consumer-to-firm interactions, firm-to-customer interactions, consumer-to-consumer interactions, and firm-to-firm interactions are the four interactions that focus on an organizing framework (Yadav & Pavlou, 2014). The context in which consumers purchase goods or services using one device is the center of technology-enabled decisionmaking. Research in technology-enabled decision-making has examined the adoption and efficacy of various online marketing tools. Hanaysha (2016) noted that focusing on social media considering the presence of competitors and communication mechanisms that restaurant owners use to reach customers should not be an option for family-style restaurant owners but a key aspect of their marketing communication elements.

Smith (2011) suggested digital and online advertising is growing phenomenally since inception. How consumers perceive digital advertising because of potentially intrusive messages that are distracting, disturbing, forced, or interfere with their work is a concern (Smith, 2011). Smith (2011) suggested cognitive psychology indicates when individuals are engaging in an online task and interruption occurs, their reaction is harmful because it interferes with the person's attention and limits the amount of information they are trying to receive. Family-style restaurant owners can leverage the consumer's perception of their brand and the power of digital advertising to increase sales. The use of social networks by restaurant owners provides access to a new way of marketing their products, such as social shopping through discount Bonds Company (Sanchís Verdeguer, Peiró-Signes & Segarra-Oña, 2014).

Yadav and Pavlou (2014) indicated that social network usage shapes consumers' perceptions and purchase behavior. Consumers' engagement in brand communities has a direct impact on new product options where community sponsor's brand increases and the likelihood of adopting a competing brand decreases (Yadav & Pavlou, 2014). Smith (2011) stated that the value of using digital media in business is business owners have the ability to offer consumers a more personal shopping experience.

Luigi, Oana, Mihai, and Simona (2011) indicated the rise of digital media, and the impact of new marketing channels have consumers more engaged than ever before in controlling communications and message delivery at a global level. Small business managers must consider consumers and potential consumers are the subject of different triggers beyond conventional paid media with the interactivity characteristic of social media (Luigi et al., 2011). Capitalizing on group-forming networks means companies will gain the strongest advantage via the Internet. Restaurant owners should focus on social media marketing to establish successful relationships with customers to inform them about the products or service in an easy and cost-effective manner (Sanchís Verdeguer, Peiró-Signes, & Segarra-Oña, 2014).

Powers, Avincula, Austin, Gaiko, and Snyder (2012) determined that consumers utilize social media to get information regarding a potential purchase, get familiar with a particular product, or have their mind changed about a brand. The use of social media by small business owners also allows consumers to feel empowered about making a purchase because of connecting to a brand in a social setting (Powers et al., 2012). Rugova and Prenaj (2016) suggested if a business owner is aware of where its target audience interaction is in the social media landscape, a small investment is enough to get a social media strategy started and the returns can be amazing.

Social media is the most famous factor of information technology and the Internet making it easier for business owners to communicate to their customers (Rugova & Prenaj, 2016). Schaupp and Belanger (2014) examined the actual social media usage of organizations rather than considering the intentions to use social media as most prior research has done. Schaupp and Belanger also examined the technology-organizationenvironment (TOE) framework, the resource-based view (RBV) theory, and previous literature by interviewing small business utilizing social media. Schaupp and Belanger indicated that technology competence, customer pressure, and the mobile environment were three of the four antecedents of social media usage that were significant. Competitive pressure was the fourth insignificant antecedent.

Varini and Sirsis' (2012) empirical study of a large firm owners' internal social media usage found that people who contribute to an online community would likely continue posting. The findings of the study also determined that valuable, engaging content would build closer ties with consumers and influence patronage intentions via emotional bonds (Varini & Sirsi, 2012). Consumer-generated content is an opportunity for owners to engage with customers directly while at the same time stagnating the use of traditional marketing approaches. Almost half of all purchasing decisions are because of WOMM. WOMM is greatest when consumers are buying a product for the first time or

when products are relatively expensive, which are all factors that would require users to do more research (Varini & Sirsi, 2012). However, when dissatisfied customers are spreading negative comments by word-of-mouth, which can hurt a business (Utz, Kerkhof, & van den Bos, 2012). Business owners can create more awareness through social media and technology in several ways, whether marketing with video sharing or harnessing the customer creativity and enable partial or full customization of products.

The use of Facebook by small business owners provides many features that make marketing possible for businesses to connect with current and potential consumers effortlessly. Facebook made history by having one website with over 750 million members with more than 146 million of them being Americans (Jeanjean, 2012). Facebook consists of over 1.5 million organizations with business pages that over 20 million people follow every day. Business owners can market to followers using targeted ads (Jeanjean, 2012). With all the capabilities and people on Facebook, business owners have the opportunity to use the features to connect with consumers and increase business revenue. Through Facebook, business owners cannot only utilize the platform to connect and share with their customers, but they can also launch marketing campaigns for their products or services (Pencheva & Georgieva, 2012). Restaurant owners can strategically engage potential and existing customers via social media and convert them into advocates for users who trust their friends' recommendations (Ghiselli & Ma, 2015).

Facebook is easy to use and has the capability to increase brand awareness through various connections (Taining, 2012). Facebook brand pages are a popular channel through which consumers interact with brands directly by either liking or commenting on posts and messages (Kabadayi & Price, 2014). When consumers like a business page they can see the business post and stay connected with the business, ultimately increasing traction to Internet traffic for brands. Gummerus et al. (2012) suggested business owners should create content that keep customers visiting the Facebook site and encourage transactional behaviors. The status update feature on Facebook is the most important functionality of this medium because it can serve as a product or service review and assist future consumers in their purchasing decisions (Hansson, Wrangmo & Klaus, 2013). Hansson et al. (2013) suggested businesses optimize their use of Facebook in marketing through consistency, clear messaging, and having a clear purpose. Small family-style restaurant owners should consider effective communication techniques that can promote active participations on Facebook (Kang, Tang, & Fiore, 2014).

Business owners are using Facebook for a variety of purposes, but the focus seems more on trying to develop relationships with consumers rather than simply providing information. Facebook pages have a different look and feel to them than the typical website and encourage interaction among consumers (Patino et al., 2012). Through the Facebook platform, business owners can obtain valuable insights and feedback about existing and potential products and services (Ramsaran-Fowdar & Fowdar, 2013). Kang, Tang, and Fiore (2014) revealed that consumers who actively participate in activities on restaurant Facebook pages were likely to feel that the restaurant brands were trustworthy and developed commitment toward the brands.

Social media marketing can be an extremely cost-effective solution if business owners utilize the appropriate social media channels (Rugova & Prenaj, 2016). Engaging in social media efforts can produce results at a fraction of the cost of traditional marketing approaches, which assists business owners with appreciating the value of results from utilizing social media platforms (Schaupp & Belanger, 2014). Using a social media platform like LinkedIn, which is a professional social media network that connects new people, consumers, and companies (Pencheva & Georgieva, 2012) can help business owners build relationships with new consumers. LinkedIn's company philosophy is relationships matter (Claybaugh & Haseman, 2013). Professionals utilize LinkedIn to validate background experience and credentials of individuals while creating search engine optimization if someone is searching the person on the Internet (Pliska, 2012). LinkedIn is a networking tool that helps professionals connect with others in their profession (Schlinke & Crain, 2013). The search features within LinkedIn allow business owners to foster relationships with potential clients, business partners, or other professionals (Schlinke & Crain, 2013). This professional website is not to entertain users but instead to foster and sustain professional relationships (Claybaugh & Haseman, 2013). Business owners can utilize LinkedIn to conduct business-to-business research with potential contributors (Patino, Pitta, & Quinones, 2012). More than 190 million individuals utilize LinkedIn making this social media platform the number one platform for business purposes (Pliska, 2012). Eighty percent of business owners utilize LinkedIn as a tool to recruit effective and efficient staff (Bohmova, 2016). Restaurant owners use social networks to supplement the process of recruitment and selection of staff (Sanchís

Verdeguer et al., 2014). Notably, the major source of value representing business organizations is the employee; therefore, hiring is an act of responsibility that requires all information available via social media to select the best potential workers (Sanchís Verdeguer et al., 2014). Small family-style restaurant owners could utilize LinkedIn as a tool for employment recruitment.

Malhotra and Malhortra (2016) found many business owners have embraced Twitter as one of the best ways to communicate with their customers and other type of stakeholders; however, business owners do not leverage the power of Twitter fully. Twitter is a microblogging site where users can post short text (maximum 280 characters) updates called tweets to a network of people called followers (Jin & Phua, 2014). Business owners of family-style restaurants can influence the underwriting force fashioned by celebrities on Twitter and their capacity to achieve a significant number of followers through their tweets as an approach to expand their image equity by promising positive eWOM through their image (Jin & Phua, 2014). Business owners have the opportunity to have their messages shared by consumers, which gives business owners the ability to reach new customers (Wilson & Quinton, 2012). Malhotra and Malhortra's (2016) research suggested that business owners' tweets that provide new information about the company's products and services, tweets that refer to external validation and tweets that share customer stories and refer to customers, are more likely to be liked and retweeted than others. Restaurant owners can leverage Twitter strategically as a marketing tool to inform potential and current customers of special offers available only to their Twitter followers (Wright, Khanfar, Harrington, & Kizer, 2016).

Business Sales

Alharbie (2015) explored independent factors of social media marketing, which results in positive business growth. With social media accessibility and affordability, small business owners can now execute marketing initiatives that have a wider reach and larger impact. Analysis of data revealed six factors of social media marketing that have positive effects on small business growth: social network reach, social news, low cost marketing, customer relationship, branding, and sales (Alharbie, 2015).

Jones, Borgman and Ulusoy (2015) studied the benefits of using social media sites for small businesses that operate in underserved regions. Small business owners must have a well thought out strategy for social media to be effective. Findings indicated the use of social media by small businesses has a positive impact on business growth in terms of increased traffic, awareness, and revenues (Jones, Borgman, & Ulusoy, 2015).

In establishing a link between consumer behavior and social media use, one must understand the impact on the marketplace and bottom-line for a business. Bronner and DeHoog (2014) focused on how social media is influencing consumer decisions, examining the relationship between factors like E-WOM, consumer experience, site relevance, and accessibility. Findings indicated higher ticket items require more in-depth searches on domain specific sites, like TripAdvisor, and open opinion sites, like Facebook (Bronner & DeHoog, 2014). Corstjens and Umbligs (2012) analyzed two realworld examples linking the amount of social media coverage to market performance and discovered negative social media had a more powerful impact on a brand in the marketplace than positive social media. Smith (2013) used a quantitative study to determine that consumer social media experiences emit strong feelings and can influence future consumer behavior. Additional research could help understand how business owners are addressing this element of consumer marketing and establish best practices for implementing social media within a marketing plan (Smith, 2013). Powers, Advincula, Austin, Graiko, and Snyder (2012) concluded the digital world has better connected companies with consumers, as well as consumers with other consumers. Client loyalty is critical from different viewpoints. Online customers are utilizing social media sites, frequently looking for suppositions, brand recognition, and information regarding services (Pookulangara & Koesler, 2011). Luo and Zhang (2013) agreed consumer-created buzz does have a relationship with the overall value of a firm, and managers should consider establishing more positive social media buzz. Providing relevant content among friends in social media has a huge impact on customer loyalty.

Social media can affect the sales process at every step (Andzulis et al., 2012). Gupta (2016) concluded that social media has a great impact on the buyer's purchase decision. Social media users trust online reviews, and opinions from friends and strangers are trusted equally playing a huge role as to whether a customer will purchase a product or service (Gupta, 2016). Andzulis et al. (2012) recommended that organizations strategically integrate social media and selling a product or service at each step in the sales process.

Kuofie, Gholston and Hakim (2015) argued social media affects business owners' products, awareness, and sales. Small business owners have a chance to engage with their

customers with social media in various ways, ultimately building relationships that will encourage customers to purchase their product or services (Kuofie et al., 2015). Small business owners should pay attention to the development and sustainability of their social media marketing strategies at all costs to achieve longer-lasting successful results (Barutcu & Toma, 2013). If a small business owner places its priorities into building relationships instead of focusing on sales, sales will increase (Kuofie et al., 2015).

Rohm, Kaltcheva, and Milne (2013) argued business owners utilizing social media platforms could benefit from a plethora of positive outcomes, including immediate sales. The more the consumer interacts with the retailer, the more loyal the consumer is to the retailer and the brand, which in turn yields positive sales performance (Rapp et al., 2013). Thach, Lease, and Barton (2016) found business owners who use multiple platforms benefit from the greatest increase in sales.

DiPietro, Crews, Gustafson, and Strick (2012) found that leaders in the restaurant industry were unsure of how social media could be used to their benefit; however, restaurants use social media websites, such as Facebook, Twitter, and LinkedIn to advertise to customers and obtain feedback. Restaurant owners who use social media websites gain the advantage of increased customer satisfaction, increased revenues, and productive employees (DiPietro et al., 2012). Kwok and Yu (2013) stated that restaurant owners draw in new business and increase sales by using social media websites.

Whiting and Williams (2013) expected ROI to increase for business owners who use social media marketing. Public Relations Society of America reported that in 2016, over half of the 90% of the active U.S. business owners would increase sales by using social media as part of the total marketing mix (Public Relations Tactics, 2016). Kumar and Mirchandani (2012) stated that social media marketing efforts used to increase sales, profits, brand awareness, and positive WOMM must relay the right message to the right individual. If business owners do not take the time to understand how to use social media as a marketing tool, business owners could cause potential damage to their organizations by missed opportunities for growth and sales (Li, 2012).

Transition

Small business owners understand the advantages of using social media as a marketing tool; however, some of these owners do not leverage social media marketing strategies to increase sales. Grounded in RM theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the social media marketing strategies small familystyle restaurant owners use to increase sales. The target population consisted of small business owners from five family-style restaurants in Maryland who successfully use social media marketing strategies to increase sales. Social media marketing for SB owners of family-style restaurants can create positive social change through business owners showing future entrepreneurs how technology can help them launch and grow their businesses faster.

Section 1 included a background of the problem, the problem and purpose statement, nature of the study, research questions, and conceptual framework. I provided operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, and significance of the study in Section 1. A review of the scholarly literature was included to ensure the reader had a basis of the purpose of the study. In section 2 I addressed aspects of the research study such as role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection, data organization, data analysis, and reliability and validity. I concluded with a discussion of what method of coding authenticated and validated the data collected in this proposed study. Section 3 includes an overview and analysis of data collected and critical findings.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I include the sampling method, sample size, and eligibility criteria for the participants. In addition, I cover my data collection techniques, data organization techniques, and data analysis, as they are key elements of this research study. This section expands on Section 1 and provides an in-depth review. In Section 3, I present the findings of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore social media marketing strategies small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales. The target population comprised five family-style restaurants small business owners, located in Maryland, who have been in business more than 2 years, and successfully use social media marketing strategies to increase sales. The implications for social change included the potential for business owners to improve small family-style restaurant social media marketing strategies, which could increase sales and employment opportunities. Community stakeholders stand to benefit from an enhanced standard of living, realized through increased household income.

Role of the Researcher

The role as a qualitative researcher in a qualitative multiple-case study is to explore a phenomenon using a variety of data sources from multiple perspectives (Qu & Dumay, 2011). I was the primary data instrument in the data collection process of this study by conducting each of the face-to-face interviews with the participants. Berger (2015) determined the role of a qualitative researcher is to conduct observation and interviews as well as gather documents and artifacts that highlight the phenomenon of a qualitative study. A qualitative researcher role is to become a learner in the study process (Berger, 2015). Xu and Storr (2012) articulated that a qualitative researcher role is to interrogate the data and provide informed commentary. As a small business owner in Maryland, I had business experience with developing social media marketing strategies with restaurants and experience establishing a customer base, as well as living in the same geographic region as the participants of the study.

Adhering to the Belmont Report by taking steps to ensure respect, beneficence, and justice for all human participants involved in the study (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979) was important. The Belmont Report assists researchers in the application of basic ethical principles through informed consent, risks and benefits assessment, and selection of participants (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). The Belmont Report includes ethical principles that are in place to enforce the protection of human research subjects (Haahr, Norlyk, & Hall, 2014). To comply with the Belmont Report's ethical guidelines, I upheld respect for and the autonomy of all research participants.

Accepting the responsibility of conducting ethical research included respecting participants' privacy, ensuring full disclosure, and minimizing potential bias (Lunnay, Borlagdan, McNaughton, & Ward, 2015). Rubin and Rubin (2012) indicated that the quality of the data depends on the ability for a researcher to reduce bias and validate the correct interpretation of the phenomenon. My goal in this qualitative multiple-case study was to gather data without bias. My experience in the area of social media marketing and

helping small business owners develop effective marketing strategies to increase revenue since 2013 created the potential for bias. To refrain from researcher bias, use of bracketing methods included taking notes during data collection and analysis and asking open-ended questions that invited interviewees to tell the story about their experience. Bracketing can increase the rigor of a study and enhance data analysis and findings (Chan, Fung, & Chien, 2013). Member checking is a quality control technique used to enhance the accuracy, credibility, and validity of participants' responses and qualitative research findings (Harper & Cole, 2012). Member checking is useful because participants clarify responses or provide additional data to confirm the accuracy of the data collected and/or to affirm the accuracy of the study findings (Harvey, 2015). I used member checking by asking participants to review my interpretations for accuracy which helped reduce researcher bias (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011).

As the primary research instrument for this qualitative case study, I developed interview protocols (Appendix B) as the basis for the semistructured interview questions. Jacob and Furgerson (2012) indicated that an interview protocol is a tool researcher's use through the interview process. Semistructured interviews, according to Cridland, Jones, Caputi, and Magee (2015), are beneficial in helping the researcher remain focused on fully addressing the research questions, avoiding nuances, and providing the researcher with a better comprehension of the participant's experiences. An interview protocol is more than a list of interview questions; it also extends the procedural level of interviewing and includes a script of what to say before, during, and after the interview, as well as includes prompts to remind the researcher of the information to collect (Jacob

& Furgerson, 2012). Rabionet (2011) determined an interview protocol is important and the protocol should include statements of confidentiality, consent, options to withdraw, and use and scope of the results to establish the line of communication that will elicit the best information.

Participants

Qualitative researchers focus on a smaller number of participants with a deeper exploration of their experience to gain an in-depth understanding missed by quantitative research (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Värlander (2008) screened study participants for experience, current role, and knowledge of research topic and acquired prior consent of each participant. The rationale for selecting participants that meet the selection criteria is to gain an understanding of the phenomenon within relevant circumstances (Stake, 2006). Screening of small family-style restaurant owners ensured alignment between the participants and the overall research question (Asioli, 2011). According to Englander (2012), the researcher is responsible for finding and selecting participants who meet the expected criteria of the phenomenon. Prospective participants for this study must have met the following criteria: must be located in Maryland, have experience with social media marketing strategies to increase sales, is a small family-style restaurant owner, and have been in business for at least 2 years.

Similar to Cronin-Gilmore's (2012) study, gaining access to a purposive sample of five successful small family-style restaurant owners started through contacting the existing network of small business owners through email and telephone communication using local business directories. According to Englander (2012), the researcher is responsible for finding and selecting participants who meet the expected criteria of the phenomenon. Robinson (2014) noted researchers could recruit participants by way of advertising, which includes methods, such as online, print, and face-to-face; therefore, I recruited participants by posting advertisements on social media as well as visiting small family-style restaurants and advertising face-to-face. I reached out to my existing network of business owners to identify five small family-style restaurant owners. I also leveraged advertising through social media to gain access to participants.

White and Hind (2015) verbalized that establishing a good rapport with participants is vital to generating a productive qualitative research study. Patton (2015) mentioned that building mutual trust and appreciation and showing interest in the participants' experiences could strengthen working relationships. Relationship development required a shared understanding of purpose and expectations (Ward, 2013), which I developed as I explained the purpose of the study, the interview process, and answered any questions prior to the start of the interview. I fostered a working relationship with potential participants through personal communication at the onset of the study via email, Facebook, phone, and in-person visits. To build a working relationship with participants, I explained the purpose of the research, the research procedures, and addressed any questions or concerns regarding the research and research process that participants had. To enhance my working relationship with participants, I reminded the participants that all communications would remain private and confidential. Rubin and Rubin (2012) suggested that people are more willing to participate in research when the project involves solving a problem. To establish a working relationship with

research participants, I began the dialogue with participants by emphasizing how helpful and beneficial their participation in the study could be to helping small family-style restaurant owners increase sales through social media marketing.

Research Method and Design

I chose a qualitative research method for this research project. Qualitative researchers aim to dig deeper into participants' experiences by focusing on the how (Mancuso & Stuth, 2011). The purpose of qualitative research is to answer what, why, and how inquiries, instead of how many or how often (Mukhopadyay & Gupta, 2014). Branthwaite and Patterson (2011) suggested that qualitative research is a unique approach that brings understanding and appreciation of the consumers' reactions. Providing insight into what the person experiences was the essence of the chosen research method (Kramer-Kile, 2012). Qualitative research involves delineating the participants' perspectives and collecting data through participant dialogue (Wisdom, Cavaleri, Onwuegbuzie, & Green, 2012). Qualitative methods are beneficial for generating indepth information that would be hard to quantify, such as interpretations, opinions, views, and experiences (Bristowe, Selman, & Murtagh, 2015). Researchers using a qualitative method will typically collect verbal data from a small number of participants to determine specific patterns. Given this, the reason for the study was to explore social media marketing strategies that small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales.

Quantitative researchers use statistical data, in addition to large and random representations (Trafimow, 2014). Barczak (2015) contended that in quantitative studies, the researcher will focus on measuring and examining the casual relationship between

variables, and a qualitative researcher will concentrate on investigating or exploring the research problem. The use of quantitative research narrows the understanding of the study (Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). Taking a quantitative approach to this doctoral study would have required a larger selection of participants and would have entailed testing hypothesis that would not complement the purpose of this research (Yoshikawa, Kalil, Weisner, & Way, 2013). The use of quantitative methods would have made it difficult for researchers to explore ideas and themes of the phenomenon, as well as gain an understanding of participants' experiences through face-to-face dialogue (Moustakas, 1994).

Mixed-methods researchers use a combination of both qualitative and quantitative methods (Hayes et al., 2013). Mixed-method is an appropriate approach when neither a quantitative approach nor a qualitative approach are sufficient independently to delineate a research topic or when research requires one method to support the other (Wisdom et al., 2012). Mixed methods research could constrain the researcher's ability to produce accurate research results and sufficient data due to a lack of sufficient available data and adequate survey responses (Mukhopadyay & Gupta, 2014). Naidu and Patel (2013) suggested the most appropriate research method depends on the research question and goals. Mixed methods researchers examine the problem instead of understanding the problem by using a combination of both qualitative and quantitative research methods (Sparks, 2012). My purpose in this doctoral study was to gain a deep understanding of social media marketing strategies small family-style restaurant owners use to increase

sales and taking a qualitative approach was more appropriate to use to help me accomplish the purpose of the research study.

Research Design

I chose a multiple case study design for this research project. Yin (2012) stated that case studies include collecting detailed information by using a variety of data collection procedures over a certain length of time. Case study research provides an understanding of individuals' experiences, issues, insights, and developmental pathways in rich detail (Duff, 2014). Almutairi, Gardner, and McCarthy (2014) noted researchers use the case study design when trying to gain insight into a problem where there is extremely limited information. A multiple case study design allowed me to gather indepth responses via open-ended interviews with small family-style restaurant owners who use social media marketing strategies to increase sales. Case studies are the most appropriate research design when the goal is to explore a complex concept via an intensive real-world analysis (DeMassis & Kotlar, 2014). El Haddad (2015) argued that a case study design is most appropriate when there is a lack of research on a problem within a specific sector. I intended to explore the marketing strategies of small familystyle restaurant owners, which researchers did not address in previous studies. A multiple case study approach is useful, because researchers utilize multiple subjects and data sources to analyze a phenomenon in its natural setting (Wahyuni, 2012).

Other qualitative designs, including phenomenological and narrative, were not appropriate, because they would not have included analysis of secondary data. Case studies are better for analysis of a process as opposed to experience and attitudes (Yin, 2014). The phenomenological research design received consideration for this research study; however, a researcher in a phenomenological study can capture the experiences of individuals from their perspectives and uncover themes that challenge structural or normative assumptions (Tirgari, 2012). Moutstakas (1994) noted in phenomenological research perception is knowledge and perception adds insight into the experience that cannot be doubted. During the phenomenology interview process, the researcher would seek to discover the logic and the interrelationships of the phenomenon under study (Ejimabo, 2015). The purpose of this research did not warrant the use of a phenomenological design, because I was not seeking to determine descriptions or interrelationships of phenomenon; therefore, this design was not appropriate for this study.

Bernard (2013) determined narrative research consists of studying a phenomenon from the reflections of participants and data collection includes extensive interviews with the participants, observations, and documents. Hancock and Epston (2013) noted a narrative approach translates ideas and practices of individuals into a story with meaning and purpose. Hanson, Balmer, and Giardino (2011) indicated written narratives might provide reflections about participants' experiences to generate detailed stories and longer written reflections, which may provide the data needed to build in-depth understanding about research questions. The narrative research design is not a good design selection for this study because the focus of this study was to explore social media strategies small family-style restaurant owners utilize. A narrative or phenomenological design would not have permitted a substantial contribution to the business environment given the lack of analysis of secondary data, such as marketing and business strategy documentation, customer base information, and profitability records.

When conducting qualitative research, scholars must achieve data saturation (O'Reily & Parker, 2012). Fusch and Ness (2015) noted data saturation occurs when additional data collection does not result in new information, coding, or themes. Undermining the importance of data saturation affects the quality of the research findings (Gibbins, Bhatia, Forbes & Reid, 2014). Fusch and Ness (2015) indicated that failure to achieve data saturation affects content validity. To achieve data saturation, I continued interviewing participants until no new information emerged from these sources.

Population and Sampling

Sanderson and Lea (2012) described purposive sampling as a nonprobability sampling strategy in which a researcher selects participants based on their experience and knowledge of the subject. Purposive sampling is appropriate when difficulties arise in obtaining a list of members of a specific population (Barratt, Ferris, & Lenton, 2015). Walker (2012) indicated that researchers could use purposeful sampling to research a group of people who have the best information about the problem under investigation.

Öberseder, Schlegelmilch, and Gruber (2011) developed a sample population of knowledgeable participants through purposive sampling to ensure an appropriate and effective sample size. The sample size for this case study consisted of five small familystyle restaurant owners in Maryland who utilize social media marketing strategies to increase revenue. Trotter (2012) stipulated that researchers offer different recommendations for determining a suitable sample size to reach saturation. Marshall et al. (2013) argued that case study researchers should use a minimum sample of four participants. Dworkin (2012) maintained that a sample size of at least five participants is necessary to achieve saturation.

Saturation is the key to excellent qualitative work (Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, & Fontenot, 2013). Trotter (2012) described saturation as the means that researchers take to reach the point at which participants no longer offer new themes and researchers have captured all accurate information through the data collection process. Marshall et al.'s (2013) suggestion of conducting interviews until new data was no longer emerging supports my purposive sampling method for establishing a population of five family-style restaurant owners to gain proper data saturation from a suitable population. Through a purposive sample size, saturation was obtainable (Walker, 2012). An appropriate sample size is one that is adequate to address the research question but not too big that the amount of data makes analysis prohibitive (Sandelowski, 1995). In addition, the number of participants required to achieve saturation in a qualitative study could range from five to fifty (Dworkin, 2012). The proposed study included five small family-style restaurant business owners. Yin (2014) outlined criteria for case study replication noting the goal is to select cases with similarly predictable results that would provide support for the research question. Achieving saturation involved conducting interviews until there were no other themes to identify.

The criteria for selecting participants for this study were small family-style restaurant owners in Maryland who utilize social media marketing strategies to increase revenue. I selected an interview setting that was convenient and comfortable for the participants' safety and confidentiality. Mikene, Gaižauskaite, and Valavičiene (2013) indicated that methodological literature recommends that researchers conduct qualitative interviews in an environment that is comfortable and non-disturbing for the participants. Jacob and Furgerson (2012) indicated libraries are a great place to conduct interviews, because they are easy to locate, safe, non-threatening, and quiet which allows a researcher to produce a quality recording. Houghton et al. (2013) noted conducting research in a public environment could be uncomfortable and create a problem because of the risk of additional bystanders and not knowing who to obtain informed consent from and by what means.

Ethical Research

Ethical research involves the protection of human participants (Stiles, Epstein, Poythress, & Edens, 2012). Voluntary participant consent is an essential principle of ethical research (Won Oak, 2012). I asked participants who agreed to participate to sign an informed consent form acknowledging their risk and confirming proper methodological systems were in place. The informed consent documents explained data collection, storage, and utilization to each participant (Griffith, 2014). All participants in the study agreed to participate by signing a consent form. The form contained the researcher's contact information, committee members' contact information, and a complete description of the purpose of the study. Participants received a copy of their signed consent form.

An informed consent process makes it easier to make changes to arrangements throughout the study, as researchers cannot guarantee the collection of data from participants; therefore, the researcher must inform the participant of the right to withdraw from the study at any time (Houghton et al., 2013). Participants could withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. Participants did not receive any incentives for participating in this study. It is vital to remain ethical during research, which a researcher can accomplish by adhering to a governing body, attaining informed consent, informing participants about the role of the researcher, intentions for the interview data, and ensuring the privacy of the participants (Qu & Dumay, 2011). Sending participants a summary of my findings helped ensure the accuracy of my interpretations and solidified the trust of my study participants. After the completion of my study, I sent the participants a summary of the findings.

Corti (2012) defined data archiving as a process of securing, preserving, and storing research data and resources for future audits to verify research findings or future exploitations to advance research. The consent forms, as well as the files, transcripts, and recordings from the research, will be stored on a private encrypted external hard drive for 5 years after the study concludes to ensure the protection of the rights of the participants (Cronin-Gilmore, 2012). After 5 years, I will permanently delete the data.

An Institutional Review Board (IRB) examination is imperative for approved research involving human participants (Tsan & Tsan, 2015). The final doctoral study manuscript includes the Walden University IRB approval number. Participant recruitment for my study did not launch before IRB approval. I assigned numbers to each participant to ensure adequate ethical protection of participants by keeping all participants' responses confidential to mitigate bias, respect participants' privacy, and protect their interests. Using only the assigned interview numbers throughout the study removed any confidential or personal information about the interviewee or organization, and provided confidentiality and security for participants.

Data Collection Instruments

Yin (2014) identified an interview as one of the most important sources of case study evidence. Brayda and Boyce (2014) determined interviews can be face-to-face (i.e., questionnaires or asking questions), over the telephone, or via group interview. Neuman (2014) determined face-to-face interviews provide the advantage of inserting the researcher into the interviewee's contextual environment. Parker (2014) found that unstructured interviews comprise informal discussions with participants, and structured interviews include a list of established questions asked in a specific order with a limited number of common responses provided.

Neuman (2014) asserted that the individual using a qualitative method of research is the primary person who collects data. I served as the primary data collection instrument for this multiple case study by conducting semistructured face-to-face interviews with five small family-style restaurant owners who use social media marketing strategies to increase sales in the Baltimore, Maryland, metro area. Semistructured interviews allow researchers to ask open-ended questions without predetermined answers (Panagiotakopoulos, 2014). The objective of semistructured interviews is to collect data without influencing the story of the interviewee (Denzin, 2012).

Rubin and Rubin (2012) recommended defining a protocol to ensure a common approach before beginning the interviews in a qualitative study. An interview protocol is a procedure guide to help direct the researcher through the interview process to ensure the collection of all data from the participant and includes a script on what the interviewer should say to the participant before, during, and at the conclusion of the interview (Jacobs & Furgerson, 2012). Rubin and Rubin (2012) determined following a protocol will keep a researcher focused on the topic and force a researcher to anticipate problems. For interviews, I used an interview protocol form as a data-collection instrument (see Appendix B). Yin (2011) determined best practices for a semistructured qualitative interview as (a) not guiding the interviewee, (b) not dominating the conversation, (c) maintaining impartiality, (d) following protocol, and (e) developing follow-up questions during the interview. As the researcher in this study, I followed Yin's (2011) interview best practices. The semistructured interviews in this study contained four open-ended questions (See Appendix A) to determine how each small family-style restaurant owner utilized social media marketing strategies to develop a customer base and the impact social media marketing has on business revenues. I recorded and transcribed the interviews.

According to Rubin and Rubin (2012), follow-up interviews enhance the achievement of new interpretations, accomplishes a profound understanding, and adds rich information that assists in the presentation of strong and vivid evidence for a conclusion. The member checking process validates an understanding of the correct data collected and the correct interpretation of the data collected by the researcher from the participants strengthening accuracy, validity, and credibility (Harper & Cole, 2012). Member checking is a quality control technique used to enhance the accuracy, credibility,

and validity of participants' responses and qualitative research findings (Harper & Cole, 2012). Member checking is useful, because participants clarify responses or provide additional data to confirm the accuracy of the data collected and/or to affirm the accuracy of the study findings (Harvey, 2015). I used member checking rather than an intrusive transcript review to enhance the reliability and validity of the study's data collection instruments. I used NVivo software to validate the data I analyzed and coded after I collected data to identify themes.

Data Collection Technique

Researchers who use a case study research design utilize techniques that will allow them to investigate a phenomenon while focusing on the dynamics of the participants' experiences in a real-life context (Raeburn, Schmied, Hungerford, & Cleary, 2015). Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, and Fontenot (2013) noted qualitative researchers rely on in-depth standardized interviews often used in multiple case studies for data collection until no new information emerges from data collection. Yin (2014) identified six sources of evidence to include (a) documentation, (b) archival records, (c) interviews, (d) direct observations, (e) participant-observations, and (f) physical artifacts. I used two sources of data collection, semistructured interviews and documentation. Documentation included social media marketing plans, social media budgets, social media data reports, and financial reports.

The interview is the most critical source of data collection (Yin, 2014). Wellinformed interviewees can provide critical insight into the phenomenon of inquiry in addition to leading the researcher to additional sources of evidence (Bryman & Bell, 2015). Disadvantages of the interview are the misinterpretation or misunderstanding of questions and answers (e.g., because of personal prejudices or convictions), as well as making assumptions about what the interviewee may answer based on prior responses (Baškarada, 2014).

According to Bourgeault (2012), a multi-method qualitative study involves the collection and triangulated analysis of documents and key informant interviews. In addition to semistructured interviews, I augmented data collected from the interview with each company's electronic social media documents, such as data reports, financial reports, and marketing plans to compare the data trends. Singh (2014) determined documents are inputs to the interview guide that are useful for saving time in interviews, for tracing the history of the organizations and statements made by key people in the organizations, and counteracting the biases of respondents. An advantage of utilizing company documents as secondary data is that analyzing the content of documents could help researchers in their search to develop themes and patterns (Vasimoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013). A disadvantage of using company documents as a data collection technique is the possibility of insufficient details or inaccurate information (Casey & Murphy, 2009).

After approval from Walden University IRB, the following process took place to conduct the proposed study. I requested and received permission to conduct this research study from Walden University IRB and to gather contact information of potential participants. Potential participants received the informed consent form during initial contact. Contacting potential study participants to clarify any questions about the informed consent form is part of the follow-up process. Participants delivered a signed informed consent form indicating the study participants' voluntary agreement to participate in the study in person or electronically through email. Participants scheduled interviews convenient to their schedules. I held interviews in a public location convenient, confidential, and comfortable for the participant. Qu and Dumay (2011) maintained that the qualitative interview is an effective and convenient way to collect data. At the beginning of each interview, the participant acknowledged their rights on the informed consent form. Data collection took place face-to-face. Data collection should include thick and rich information on the participants' perspective of a specific issue (Wahyuni, 2012). Once data collection has taken place, I imported data into Nvivo 11 software. Recording of interviews occurred by using a digital device, such as an iPad. During the recording of the interviews, I made notes of the respondents' nonverbal communication, vocal inflection, and tone. Before importing textual transcripts into Microsoft Word and commencing the process of data analysis, an interview summary went back to the participants to verify the accuracy of the data through a process of member checking as suggested by Faseleh-Jahromi, Moattari, and Peyrovi (2013).

Yilmaz (2013) stated that member checking is an essential step in the data collection process, and the researcher should ensure they correctly document and understand the participant's answers to the interview inquiries. Incorporating member checking into the design of the study ensured confidentiality (Houghton et al., 2013). Assuring research creditability and dependability occurs by allowing participants to confirm the validity of codes, themes, and study findings interpretively through member checking (Cope, 2014). I employed member checking as a technique to confirm the accuracy of participant interview responses and study findings. I emailed each participant a copy of my interpretations of their responses and conducted follow-up interviews to confirm or clarify each participant's responses through member checking.

Data Organization Technique

Radcliff (2013) noted researchers use diaries or reflective journals to help them accurately recall their research experiences and participants' interview responses. Koopman-Boyden and Richardson (2013) stressed that a diary could capture the immediacy and spontaneity of a particular experience, thereby maximizing a researcher's future recall accurately and minimizing retrospection bias. Ponterotto (2014) noted qualitative researchers who utilize a reflective journal can mitigate personal beliefs and meanings and can enhance their ability to remain impartial about the phenomena they are researching. I used a reflective journal to keep track of responses.

Coding can also help researchers manage text data (Constantine, 2013). Without a case study database, commingling of the narrative in the case study with the interpretations of the data could make inspecting raw data nearly impossible (Yin, 2014). Constantine (2013) described how the computer revolution included software for text data analysis through themes. The use of computers for qualitative data analysis (i.e., CAQDAS) has practical advantages in comparison to more traditional methods, such as cutting quotations and sorting them into cardboard boxes (Odena, 2013). Researchers are obligated to be clear about their chosen coding procedures to help the reader comprehend the research data (Turner, Kim, & Andersen, 2013). The coding system and data

organization technique for this study entailed assigning participants an alphanumeric code to ensure the confidentiality of their identities.

The data organizing process can help researchers identify themes, patterns, and contradictory information or interpretations of the data (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013). I utilized NVivo software to synthesize themes and patterns for further analysis and understanding. I organized collected data by establishing themes through NVivo to create codes and understand emerging themes of the data. I titled interview audio files with a unique identifier code assigned to each participant and maintained an inventory of documents for each company included in the case studies. Data resided in a series of personally produced documentation, such as Word documents and Excel spreadsheets. Reviewing all data creates a quality analysis (Yin, 2014). Confidentiality and anonymity involve assigning generic codes to each participant (Gibson, Benson, & Brand, 2013). Each document had a unique identifier code in the file title. I kept a list of audio and digital files in a spreadsheet with identifying details, such as coded identifier number, file title, file type, document author(s), category from the list above, and document date. I stored field notes in a Word document and stored all digital files related to the research in a password-protected folder while research was underway.

Ritch (2014) examined transcripts utilizing double hermeneutics to understand the participants' application and meaning by developing themes and grouping data into relationships with other broader themes. Organizing the interview data into emerging themes will benefit further data analysis (Rich, 2014). Herranz and Nin (2014) recommended that investigators safely store all research data in a secure area to protect

the privacy and confidentiality of participants' identity and their contributions to the research project. Although the length of time to store research data varies (Torrance, 2012), the Inter-University for Political and Social Research (2012) noted that the ability to store and archive data over a long-term ensures data preservation and protection from obsolescence, loss, or irreversible damage. Once the research was complete, I removed the audio files and documents provided by the participants from the folder and stored all digital files on an external hard drive in a safe deposit box, which I will hold for 5 years, and after 5 years, I will destroy all data files.

Data Analysis

Triangulation is a method of integrating multiple data sources to help understand the results (Denzin, 2012). Patton (2005) proposed four types of triangulation in case studies: (a) data triangulation, (b) investigator triangulation, (c) theory triangulation, and (d) methodological triangulation. Per Patton's data triangulation proposals, I collected information from semistructured interviews and company documents to corroborate my findings with each section of the literature review. Data triangulation involves the use of different data collection methods to enhance transferability and robustness of findings (Walshe, 2011). Triangulation increases the credibility of case studies by improving both internal consistency and generalizability (Hussein, 2015). The purpose of data analysis is to uncover themes that answer the central research question (Denzin, 2012).

The data analysis process includes preparation, interpretation, and analysis of the data for meaning (Yin, 2014). In this case, I used thematic data analysis to explore the social media marketing strategies SB owners of family-style restaurants need to expand

business markets and sales. Thematic analysis is a process to conduct an analysis of qualitative data (Percy, Kostere, & Kostere, 2015).

Five stages of thematic data analysis include (a) collecting the data, (b) separating the data into groups, (c) regrouping the data into themes, (d) assessing the information, and (e) developing conclusions (Yin, 2014). I followed Yin's (2014) five stages while also incorporating both Stake's (1995) and Merriam's (1998) notions of gaining impressions and observations from participants. Percy et al. (2015) identified three types of thematic analysis: theoretical analysis, inductive analysis, and thematic analysis with a constant comparison. In a theoretical analysis, a researcher has predetermined themes to examine during the data analysis but remains open to the possibilities of new themes emerging from the analysis (Percy et al., 2015); therefore, thematic analysis was most appropriate for this case study.

To perform data analysis, I transcribed the interviews and used codes to identify recurring themes. The coding process consisted of developing labels consistent with the research questions and purpose of the study. Specifically, to dissect and analyze the data associated with the social media marketing strategies used by each target company (Miles, Huberman, & Saldaña, 2014). A review of the transcribed data and identification of themes using a highlighter facilitated coding and categorization of the data. Next, data was categorized, which involves reviewing the data further and clustering information by words and phrases (Rademaker, Grace, & Curda, 2012). Finally, the process of data analysis involved reviewing codes and any additional data, drawing on system theories and the central research question to ensure connections drawn reflect the foundation of the study (Noble & Smith, 2014).

After collecting the data, I analyzed the data. Stake (1995) defined data analysis as a matter of giving meaning to first impressions as well as to final compilations. From Stake's perspective, researchers must take apart impressions and observations (Yazan, 2015). Stake (1995) admitted that researchers must find suitable forms of analysis for research and reflection. Merriam (1998) agreed with Stake's data analysis proposition that the simultaneous collection and analysis of data is a quintessential attribute of qualitative research design, which distinguishes it from the research-oriented by positivistic epistemology.

Data analysis involves reviewing the data to discover meaningful themes, patterns, and descriptions that answer the central research questions of the study (Yin, 2011a). I organized the collected data in a category relating to social media marketing strategies and selected the initial categories deriving from the findings and from the literature review, such as the Facebook marketing, Twitter marketing, Instagram marketing, customer engagement techniques, and relationship marketing. Although these classifications are an idea of what the categories were, data collected dictated the true categories (Yin, 2014). Other categories emerged during data analysis. If new information did not fit the initial categories but emerged during subsequent interviews establishing additional categories, a review of previous interviews for information that should have been included in the new category was the appropriate action (Baškarada, 2014). I used Yin's five-step data analysis process that included compiling, disassembling, reassembling, interpreting, and concluding the data (Yin, 2011b).

Nvivo 11 is a tool specifically designed to compile data for analysis of qualitative cases into specific words or phrases (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2012). I utilized NVivo 11 software to categorize and sort data for identification of relevant themes. In this study, designing coding themes coordinated with the research questions, as suggested by Stuckey (2014). Coding is the process of tagging segmented data with category names or descriptive words and then grouping the data (Wilson, 2012). Coding of data is essential in identifying patterns and themes (Smit, 2012). I used the auto-coding feature in the NVivo 11 software for data analysis, which consisted of identifying similarities in data and prevalent themes, thereby observing consistencies among the perspectives of participants. I used NVivo 11 software to input, store, code, and explore themes and patterns. Garrett-Howard (2012) noted researchers can use data analysis software for creating themes. The NVivo 11 software is suitable for identifying themes (Garrett-Howard, 2012). Advantages of using NVivo 11 included storage of data in a single location with easy access to information and the ability to use continuous coding schemes (Garrett-Howard, 2012). Utilizing NVivo increased the vitality and rigor in qualitative research (Leech & Onwuegbuzie, 2011).

After decoding the data, consideration of the data under several arrangements until emerging themes are satisfactory took place, which is the process of reassembling the data (Yin, 2011b). Successful reassembling was evident in the emergence of themes in the data analysis. The next step was interpreting the data, which is the process of making sense of the data (Turner, 2010). A crucial component of data analysis was an accurate interpretation of the data (Carcary, 2011). Concluding the data was the final step and is the development of a sequence of statements while noting the findings of a study from the viewpoint of a larger set of ideas (Buchanan, 2013; Yin, 2011b). The results from the interview required an analysis and coding to determine if there are any emerging themes between participant experiences of the phenomenon (Bloomberg & Volpe, 2012).

In qualitative analysis, the conjunction of multiple conceptual frameworks, prior research, and newly acquired knowledge point toward a worldview for social change (Trochim, Donnelly, & Arora, 2015). Data analysis in view of RM theory helps to interpret the meaning of data collected (Denzin, 2012). Investigating a problem while concurrently triangulating multiple sources and methods will enhance a researcher's understanding of the problem under study (Varaki, Floden, & Kalatehjafarabadi, 2015). By examining social media marketing strategies in small family-style restaurants through the RM theory, I compared the data collected with established theories relevant to the phenomenon and used member checking to verify data.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are essential to ensuring that researchers adhere to the highest standards of academic research (Noble & Smith, 2015). Validity in qualitative research refers to the researcher assuring that the methodology, design, and data collection tools and techniques are suitable to answer the research question (Leung, 2015). Leung (2015) further suggested that reliability in qualitative research is dependent upon consistency of research procedures. Displaying reliability and validity in qualitative studies by employing principles of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability can confirm the rigor of the research process (Auer et al., 2015; Valizadeh et al., 2012).

Reliability

Reliability is the consistency and transferability of the research procedures used in a case study (Yin, 2014). Using the appropriate research methodology ensured the quality of data interpretation would not only be reliable but also consistent with the intent of the study (Akerlind, 2012). To establish rigor within the qualitative field, researchers must create trust. Trustworthiness and data management are vital to the success of qualitative studies (White, Oelke, & Friesen, 2012). Credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability all contribute to trust in a study (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013).

Dependability is the extent to which an independent researcher can replicate the study (Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). Houghton et al. (2013) suggested researchers increase dependability by maintaining records about research decisions made during the entire study process. While using reliability and validity in quantitative research is appropriate, rigor in qualitative research supports confidence in the findings of a qualitative study (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Rigor involves making sure that the research methodology, design are in alignment with the research purpose, and that the research process maintains attention to every detail (Barusch, Gringeri, & George, 2011). Rigor includes four elements: credibility, dependability, transferability, and confirmability (Barusch et al., 2011; Petty et al., 2012; Watkins, 2012).

In addition to validity and reliability, data quality ensured the dependability of my case study. To enhance the dependability of my case study, I followed Stake's (1995) four triangulation strategies: data source, investigator, theory, and methodology. Finally, to enhance the dependability of my study, I utilized member checking. Harvey (2015) stated member checking is a strategy scholars employ to obtain participants' insight on their conclusions and recommendations and to verify correct analyses of data. The member checking process included the researcher verifying the analyses of feelings, facts, experiences, beliefs, and values to establish credibility and to eliminate researchers' bias and misreporting (Anney, 2014). Koelsch (2013) observed the member checking exercise could serve to validate the primary purpose of the qualitative case study researcher.

Validity

Validity is the accuracy and legitimacy of research findings (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). Research validity and reliability are common concepts in quantitative research but also applicable in qualitative research since researchers must establish creditability using either method (Olsen, McAllister, Grinnell, Walters, Appunn, 2016).

Credibility. Credibility is the degree to which the research findings are trustworthy (Odena, 2013). Hussein (2015) noted in research studies scholars could use data triangulation to validate research instruments as well as to overcome challenges and biases with a single method, observer, and theory. Triangulation refers to collecting, exploring, and examining multiple perspectives, data sources, theoretical frameworks, and methodological paradigms comparatively to develop an affirmed or confirmed

understanding of study findings (Azulai & Rankin, 2012). I used methodological triangulation to ensure credibility by using semistructured interviews, collecting company documents, viewing social media platforms, and asking open-ended interview questions. The use of methodological and data triangulation increases the internal validity and creditability of case study research (Baškarada, 2014). Assuring research creditability occurs by allowing participants to confirm the validity of codes, themes, and study findings interpretively through member checking (Cope, 2014). Performing member checks with each participant can validate the conclusion of transcribed data (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). Member checking is an important quality control process in which participants have the opportunity to review statements for accuracy (Harper & Cole, 2012). Member checking is appropriate with each participant by calling the participants on the telephone and relaying the gathered information to the participants to verify the correct interpretation of the data. I solicited each participant's review of the summary of their responses to affirm the accuracy, credibility, and validity of the study and to seek to confirm or clarify each participant's responses through member checking. I utilized member checking to guarantee that the data I collected was a precise reflection of each participants' responses.

Transferability. Transferability can establish trustworthiness in qualitative studies (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). Transferability, an element of rigor, involves the capacity to apply the findings in a similar situation or context (Houghton et al., 2013). A key strategy for supporting transferability is providing an in-depth description for the readers (Carter et al., 2014). Marshall and Rossman (2011) noted researchers need a

thorough description of the original nature of the study to make an informed decision regarding its applicability, or transferability, to their situation. Documenting the research process, such as providing specific descriptions of the research population sample, as well as the demographic and geographic boundaries of the study, can support the transferability of the research study results (Griffith, 2013). To make it possible for other scholars to follow my research procedures to generate similar or identical results, I thoroughly explained the research context and assumptions. I also ensured that my doctoral study included precise information about the research participants, population, sample, demographical and geographical inclusions, research method and design, data collection instruments and techniques, data organizational techniques, and data analysis.

Confirmability. Confirmability is the degree to which the findings of the study are a reflection of the sentiments of the participants and not a reflection of the researcher's personal biases (Hanson et al., 2011; Siemiatycki, 2012). Houghton et al. (2013) indicated that researchers closely link confirmability to dependability in referring to the neutrality and accuracy of the data. To strengthen the confirmability of the qualitative data, researchers can use a rigorous audit trail (Singh, 2014). A rigorous audit trail involves outlining the decisions made throughout the research process that provides reasoning for the methods used and interpretations of the data. For this study, I used NVivo software to help me achieve and maintain a good comprehensive audit trail of decisions made throughout the data collection and data analysis process. The software has a query tools feature that allowed me to audit results and identify excessive emphasis on infrequent findings that could benefit and support my research efforts to identify social media strategies that small family-style restaurant owners can execute to increase sales.

I provided an in-depth account of the data collection and analysis process in this study. The provision of these details allows for an audit trail that enables the reader to examine and judge the logic utilized in analyzing the collected data and reaching the conclusions noted by the researcher (Hanson et al., 2011). As suggested by Houghton et al. (2013), the confirmability through audit trail rigor is achievable by outlining the decisions made throughout the research process. I used audit trails to not only provide a solid methodological reference for other researchers but also to provide an opportunity for reflective reasoning on chosen themes or categories, interpretations, and criticism as the study progresses (Johnson & Waterfield, 2004).

Data saturation. Data saturation is useful as a criterion to verify the quality of qualitative research for its transparency and creditability (Rooddehghan, ParsaYekta, & Nasrabad, 2015). Fusch and Ness (2015) noted data saturation occurs when additional data collection does not result in new information, coding, or themes. Saturation of data happens when no new themes emerge or essential information and any further data collection will result in diminishing returns (Marshall, Cardon, Poddar, & Fontenot, 2013). For this case study, I pursued data saturation by interviewing participants until no new data and themes emerged and until I collected enough data to make it possible for other investigators to replicate the study. I incorporated the use of methodological triangulation to help me reach data saturation and applied the personal lens process to

identify my personal views and perceptions of the research topic to mitigate bias and to achieve data saturation.

Transition and Summary

The objective of Section 2 of this qualitative case study proposal was to explain the plan used to conduct this qualitative study. This study explored social media marketing strategies SB owners of family-style restaurants can implement into their company's marketing plan to increase net sales. The population of the study included five small family-style restaurant business owners in Maryland. The researcher collected data from various sources including documents, archival evidence, semistructured interviews, direct observation, and physical artifacts. Utilizing Microsoft Word and Excel helped organize the collected data. Coding of the interview transcript and looking for common patterns, themes, and categories that relate to the research question is how I analyzed the data. Section 3 includes an overview and analysis of data collected and critical findings.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore social media marketing strategies small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales. I conducted semistructured interviews with five small family-style restaurants in Maryland, and I used my interview protocol to guide the interview process. I triangulated data obtained from participant interviews and electronic social media reports and documents. Using methodological triangulation, I identified five themes: (a) social media platforms that small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales, (b) strategies that work best for small family-style restaurant owners to increase sales, (c) employees' response to social media marketing strategies small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales, (d) impact social media marketing has on small family-style restaurant sales and (e) relationship marketing.

Presentation of the Findings

The central research question for this qualitative single case study was the following: What social media marketing strategies do small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales. Five themes morphed from the data analysis (a) social media platforms small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales (b) strategies that work best for small family-style restaurant owners to increase sales, (c) employees' response to social media marketing strategies small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales, (d)impact social media marketing has on small family-style restaurant sales, and (e) relationship marketing.

Social Media Platforms

The theme of social media platforms pertains to participants' responses to the types of social media used to increase sales. Three categories social media were the basis of this theme (a) Facebook, (b) Instagram, and (c) other platforms.

Facebook. Facebook is the preferred social media site for business marketing (Jennings, Blount, & Weatherly, 2014). All participants in the study stated they utilize Facebook to increase sales. P1 mentioned they are not as consistent using Facebook as they are using other platforms; however, they still utilize Facebook as a way to market by encouraging their customers to write reviews about their experience on Facebook. P1 also utilizes Facebook to post specials and allow customers to market their business for them by encouraging customers to post about the restaurant and tag their business in the post. P2 mentioned they not only utilize Facebook to post specials. P2 stated:

Not only do we post pictures of food, because there's only so many pictures of food and drinks you can post, but there's always something new that's happening at our restaurant with the music and open mic night, so we also like to share that information on Facebook and provide our customers with a reason to return.

P3 mentioned that a key strategy for them using Facebook "is using the paid promotion feature." Yearly, P3 spends \$1500 on paid Facebook promotion ads for their restaurant marketing to increase sales; however, they have never been able to effectively learn what their ROI is with this strategy. P3 also mentioned that they understand the paid promotion algorithm for Facebook allows them to reach outside of their current followers, which allows them to reach more people who have never engaged with them before. P4 and P5 stated they were both very consistent with marketing on Facebook and after reviewing their Facebook reports and accounts, it showed they were both very active and consistent.

Business owners use Facebook as a marketing tool because of the potential to reach and communicate to a large population (Fan & Gordon, 2014). As of July 2016, there were 1.71 billion people on Facebook (DMR, 2016). All five participants understood that Facebook is a great way to build and maintain relationships with their current and potential customers, and that it is important for them to utilize it in their business to increase sales. This supports Sheth and Parvatiyar's (1995) basic tenant of relationship marketing of consumers' choice reduction.

Instagram. All five participants used Instagram consistently. Participants stated they utilize Instagram to post pictures of their menu items as well as for their customers to engage in strategies to increase sales. None of the participants utilize Instagram for contests; however, P2 and P4 stated they utilize Instagram to promote events. P3 mentioned they started utilizing Instagram after first implementing Facebook marketing. P2 stated:

> Posting pictures of our signature dishes almost always give us a return immediately. Customers will come in because they saw the picture of the dish on Instagram.

P4 stated they rely heavily on Instagram, and they have specific marketing strategies they implement on Instagram. P4 mentioned:

We post a food item at least once every other day. Pictures of food are super popular, and then we post pictures of community. Our main thing is to never show an empty cafe, to show the vibrancy of the space, and so the picture is meant to capture the vibe and essence of the space. I'll capture what's happening on the front, street skating, or if the music's popping and people are dancing, I'll try to capture that so that customers really see the essence of the space through it through the pictures versus just a static picture of food or an event.

Using Instagram for marketing was most effective, because you can share pictures of their menu and allow customers to use specific hashtags to promote their business to reach a larger audience. P3, P4, and P5 stated they use specific and general hashtags on their posts. P1 and P2 stated they do not use hashtags. All participants stated they see some form of return by using Instagram for marketing. These findings support Castronovo and Huang (2012) that social media can be used to accomplish one of three goals for a business: building awareness, increasing sales, or building loyalty. Instagram is a visual platform and allows business owners to reach potential customers through communication, collaboration, and creating value through picture content (Carlson & Lee, 2015).

Other. One of the five participants stated that they use Yelp to increase sales (P3); however, they felt that there was no need to implement any specific strategies, because

Yelp is user-generated content and can sometimes come with negativity. One of the five participants also stated that they utilize Twitter for marketing but not very often (P2). They stated that they only have Twitter, because it was the popular thing to have when they first got into business. They have not been consistent with marketing on this platform. A review of the businesses' social media sites revealed that the participants used social media to post pictures and videos, promote community events, advertise daily specials, and post the restaurant's menu (See Figure 2 and 3).

	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5
Photos	Food photos, Space photos	Food and drink pictures	Food and drink pictures	Event photos, Food photos	Food, drink, and events
Menu	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Events	Special events, Weekly brunch	Open Mic Night, Special events	Holiday Events	Community events, Customer events	Holiday events
Videos	No Videos	Videos of what is going on in the restaurant	No Videos	Events, Customers engaging	Current atmosphere of the space
Recent Posts	Pictures of the space	Post of musicians playing in space	Upcoming events, Food post	Upcoming events, Customers engaging	Upcoming events and specials
Consistently	No consistency	Two-Three times a week	Twice a week	Daily	Two-three times a week

Figure 2. Review of participants' Facebook post

	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5
Photos	Food photos, Space photos	Food and drink pictures	Food and drink pictures, Gear, Specials	Event photos, Food photos	Food, drink, and events
Events	Special events, Weekly brunch	Open Mic Night, Special events	Upcoming events	Community events, Customer events (Events customers are giving outside the restaurant)	Holiday events
Videos	No Videos	Videos of what is going on in the restaurant	Videos of what is going on in the restaurant	Events, Customers engaging	No Video
Recent Posts	Pictures of the space	Food post	Upcoming events, Food post	Upcoming events, Customers engaging	Upcoming events and specials
Consistently	No consistency	Two-Three times a week	Twice a week	Daily	Two-three times a week

Figure 3. Review of Participants' Instagram posts

Strategies

The theme of strategies pertains to strategies that work best for small family-style restaurant owners to increase sales. The findings of this study support Castronovo and Huang (2012) argument that consumer purchase decisions are highly affected by the opinions and decisions of one's peers, with peer-to-peer communication acting as a highly valid and reliable source of product information. Four categories strategies were

the basis of this theme (a) posting food & drinks, (b) paid social media, electronic wordof-mouth marketing and (c) hashtag strategy.

Posting food and drinks. All five participants emphasized posting pictures of their menu items helped increase sales. Participant 1 stated, "I think the most effective strategy is showing the products. Once you display your products, consumers anticipate what their experience will be like. They come to our space for the product they see on Instagram or Facebook. Once you show the product, it becomes very alluring to the customer." Participant 2 agreed that posting a picture of their drinks and food tends to always keep the restaurant on their minds and coming through their doors. P3 stated, "I found food posts to be more successful than anything and generate more online and foot traction than any other post." P4 stated they post food pictures but found showcasing their space gains more traction. P5's photo strategy consists of them doing a professional photoshoot of their new menu items every time the menu changes and creating a plan to post the photos over a period of time. The findings of this study supports Carlson and Lee (2015) argument that small business owners should focus on improving their relevance to social media to build and sustain long-term business success. Varini and Sirsi (2012) determined valuable, engaging content would build closer ties with consumers and influence patronage intentions via emotional bonds.

All participants agreed that when their customers post pictures, it also increases their sales. P2 stated, "when our customers post pictures of our "popular" dishes we gain more traction which results in increased sales." This strategy supports RM theory where organizational goals involve creating a consumer champion or advocate who will recommend the company (Bhattacharya & Sen, 2003).

Paid promotions. P3 mentioned that a key strategy for them using Facebook "is using the paid promotion feature." Yearly P3 spends \$1500 on paid Facebook promotion ads for their restaurant to market in an attempt to increase sales; however, they have never been able to effectively learn what their ROI is with this strategy. P3 also mentioned that they understand the paid promotion algorithm for Facebook allows them to reach outside their current followers, which allows them to reach more people who have never engaged with them before. All other participants agreed that they understand they could gain more traction and increase sales while utilizing the paid promotion feature on Facebook and Instagram; however, they have not taken the time to understand how to use the feature thoroughly. They also stated they do not have the proper budget to dedicate to paid promotion. P4 only used the paid promotion feature for events they are hosting. Small business managers must consider consumers and potential consumers are the subject of different triggers beyond conventional paid media with the interactivity characteristic of social media (Luigi et al., 2011). Business owners can market to followers using targeted ads (Jeanjean, 2012).

Word of mouth marketing. All five participants emphasized the power of electronic WOM marketing. An electronic WOM strategy is crucial to marketing success (Castronovo & Huang, 2012). Social media allows WOM to accelerate its reach (Walaski, 2013). Four of the five participants added that they encourage customers to post pictures of the food on social media sites and comment about their experience in the

restaurant to help spread the word about the service they received (P1, P2, P3 & P5). The dominant factor in WOM engagement is customer satisfaction, which occurs when the client wants to share a positive experience about a product or service (Wolny & Mueller, 2013). All five participants confirmed that customers are enthusiastic to share their experience on social media sites, especially when it is a positive one. P2 mentioned:

> When customers post pictures their friends (or following) will look at the post and think that looks good or seems like a nice place to visit. Then they will come in. I think word-of-mouth is the strongest form of marketing tool for us. Positive word-of-mouth I guess I should say-because everybody gets word-of-mouth is not always positive. Customers will then come in and say, 'I have heard about this place or I saw this dish on social media I wanted to try, and it looked really good.

Potential consumers are more interested in what others recommend rather than the vendor-generated information (Hajli, 2014). P4 noted that when friends of their customers see their experience their customers experienced virtually, they want a piece of that experience. It is important that they always provide their current and new customers with the same experience they saw happening on social media. P1 noted that

The only strategy I use in terms of marketing and advertising is social media, and I believe that is the biggest form of advertising; therefore, when a customer comes in, they get the best experience, and then they go tell another customer which increases our sales.

P1 stated they use bloggers and influencers to help increase their following and traction by having the blogger come to their restaurant and provide them with a free meal and great experience for them to share on their social media platforms. All participants noted they do not offer specials or discounts for customers sharing their experience on social media but do encourage them to do so. Figure 4 lists the participating restaurants' Facebook user activity.

	<i>P1</i>	<i>P2</i>	<i>P3</i>	<i>P4</i>	P5		
Page followers							
			8,008				
People Checked In	1,312	21,762	21,551	3,416	3,497		

Figure 4. Facebook User Activity

Customers help increase traction by posting their experience through formal reviews with the review feature on Facebook or informally by just posting a picture or words and including their experience in the caption. Customer reviews increase brand awareness (P3). "Yelp is more user-generated content; however, when potential customers read reviews, they will make their decision to come in based on the reviews." Figure 5 and 6 illustrate the number of customer reviews and the customer ratings of the participating restaurants on Facebook and Yelp.

	<i>P1</i>	<i>P2</i>	Р3	<i>P4</i>	P5
# of Reviews					59
Star Rating	4.7	4.5	4.3	4.9	4.6

Figure 5. Facebook Customer Reviews and Ratings

	<i>P1</i>	P2	<i>P3</i>	<i>P4</i>	P5
# of Reviews	182	637	370	80	103
Star Rating	3.5	4.0	3.5	4.5	3.5

Figure 6. Yelp Customer Reviews and Ratings

Hashtags. Two of the five participants stated they strategically utilize hashtags to help increase their exposure; however, all participants use some type of hashtag. Social media marketing campaigns are more likely to succeed when the message content is able to highly resonate with the target audience and appeal to this group's motivations for sharing information (Castronovo & Huang, 2012). P4 stated,

We use the hashtag of our mission, which is community first, cafe second, which I think allows us to be consistent in all of our messages. New followers are able to find us and see our cohesive brand through our hashtags.

Castronovo and Huang (2012) determined small business owners should utilize social media to foster communication and therefore a social media strategy must allow users to share and contribute to content. P4 also stated that they use general hashtags also, but it depends on what type of post they are posting. P5 stated they have also created their own personalized hashtag; however, they use general hashtags to describe their posts and also use ones that are specific to holidays or events.

Employees

The theme of employees' pertains to employees' responses to social media marketing strategies small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales. All five participants stated their employees are very receptive to utilizing social media marketing strategies. Only 1 of the 5 participants stated they require their employees to implement social media marketing in their job roles (P3). P3 stated, "Our staff is supposed to post twice a week and we ask our bartenders to post once a week." Four of the five participants do not have dedicated staff to manage social media or require their staff to post on social media (P1, P2, P4, P5). However, P1 stated that although they do not require the staff to post, they tend to take the initiative and post about the restaurant on their own. P5 mentioned their staff increases traction by posting on their personal social media and tagging the restaurant mainly on Instagram. P4 also sells other entrepreneurs products in their business and stated:

Our employees love utilizing social media, and they actually give me many strategies. We focus a lot on art and when we have new artists installing their work the team will send me content to post on social media. When we think about increasing sales, we also think about increasing the sales of our vendors.

Impact

The theme of impact pertains to the impact social media marketing has on small family-style restaurant sales. All participants stated that social media marketing had a positive impact on their sales. P3 stated since implementing actual strategies they have seen an increase in their sales. P5 stated they see their sales increase when they are consistent on social media because they are constantly on the minds of their following. P5 stated, "People see our post, and they are like, "Oh. I will make the choice to go there

tonight," which is where we find the return on our time investment of using social media." P4 mentioned that because they not only promote their restaurant but also promote and empower other entrepreneurs through their social media platforms, they have been able to increase their sales and other entrepreneurs' sales. P4 stated:

Any entrepreneur who places their product on our bookshelf for sale is also our focus. We think about how do we showcase that entrepreneur or that business on our platform as well. We also highlight our chefs. The chefs are always super proud of the food that they put up, so they constantly are sending me pictures of new dishes to be featured. We post the pictures for internal, but of course, sales; however, then we tag the chef, and then that helps promote their brand and who they are as a chef. Although it increases our sales and the chef sales we do not know of these strategies as sale strategies we just want everyone to win.

P4 mentioned that when having events they utilize social media to promote and sell tickets and almost every time they sell out their events, because they leverage social media platforms for marketing. Social media has had an impact on their bottom line.

Relationship marketing.

The theme of relationship marketing pertains to how the social media marketing media strategies participants of this study utilized aligns under the service augmentation relationship marketing strategy increase sales. Relationship marketing is attracting, maintaining, and, in multiservice organizations, enhancing customer relationships (Berry, 2002). Berry (2002) identified five relationship marketing strategies to include core service marketing, relationship customization, service augmentation, relationship pricing, and internal marketing. All five participants in this study identified at least one RM strategy they use through social media. P4 stated when new customers find them on social media; the customers expect to receive the same experience they saw on social media. P4 is very adamant about providing them with that experience. P4 is using the core service marketing strategy of relationship marketing. P4 stated they want their customers to become advocates of their business. In RM theory, organizational goals involve creating a consumer champion or advocate who will recommend the company (Bhattacharya & Sen, 2003).

P1 mentioned that their major strategy is utilizing social media for marketing by having their current customers to market their business and drive sales. However, P1 stated they also understand that customer retention is extremely important, because if they can retain customers, they can acquire new customers. Consumer identification, customer acquisition, customer retention, customer development, and tracking consumer information are steps in the process of relationship marketing small business leaders implement to maintain lifelong relationships (Khan, 2014a). P1 mentioned that social media is extremely important to their business, and they understand that building strong relationships with their customers is important.

P2 mentioned that without building strong, trusting relationships with their customers on social media their sales would probably not be where they are. P2 stated,

Marketing on social media allows our customers to know who we are before they actually come in. It can be a struggle sometimes, because we always have to ensure that we provide our customers with the best experience so that they will not use social media to post negative comments about us but instead encourage their followers, family, and friends to come in.

The purpose of employing relationship-marketing theory is to allow business owners to use a strategic process to develop and maintain a profitable relationship portfolio (Catoiu & Tichindelean, 2012). P3, P4, and P5 all mentioned that marketing on social media strategically is important to their business growth. P3 mentioned that they originally did not incorporate social media into their marketing but quickly realized it is a must that they use social media to increase sales. P4 noted that social media is not a huge struggle for them, and it is a great way to always stay connected to their current customers and a way to obtain new customers. RM theory is relevant to the findings of this study because family-style restaurant owners in this study agreed that more than half of consumers who use online tools such as social media to make purchasing decisions interact with their restaurant on social networking sites. Small family-style restaurant owners in this study understood the importance of building strong relationships with consumers via social media to enhance their brand loyalty. Enhancing relationships with customers and elements of the brand community can enhance relationships and increase contacts between the brand and the customers to influence the brand (Laroche, Habibi, Richard, & Sankaranarayanan, 2013). All participants agreed that when their customers post pictures, it also increases their sales. This strategy supports RM theory where

organizational goals involve creating a consumer champion or advocate who will recommend the company (Bhattacharya & Sen, 2003).

All participants mentioned that they did not have a written social mediamarketing plan. The participants posited that a written marketing plan is necessary, but they have not had the time to create one. In addition, participants 1, 3, and 5 said they would incorporate social media marketing into their print marketing in the very near future to help engage their followers.

Small family-style restaurant owners is this study agreed continuing to implement social media marketing strategies to reach customers will increase sales. The findings of this study support Schaupp and Belanger (2014) argument that small business owners who engage in social media marketing build relationships and trust with customers that translates into increased sales. Social media use can alter the level of communication and interaction between SB owners and consumers (Pookulangara & Koesler, 2011). Participants of this study agreed consumers of their small family-style restaurants can communicate through social media their questions or concerns, and as family-style small restaurant owners they can directly respond to the consumers' questions.

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings of this study support Schaupp and Belanger (2014) argument that small business owners who engage in social media marketing build relationships and trust with customers that translates into increased sales. Utilizing the findings of this study, small family-style restaurant owners can increase their understanding of various social media marketing strategies that translate into increased sales. Small family-style restaurant owners can utilize the findings from this study to increase their knowledge of how to foster relationships with their customers through social media marketing strategies ultimately increasing WOM through social media platforms.

Small family-style restaurant owners can use the findings of this study to understand specific social media marketing strategies to implement utilizing various social media platforms such as Facebook and Instagram. The findings of this study suggest leveraging photographs of food and drinks on Facebook and Instagram increased engagement ultimately increasing sales. Participants in this study indicated that they rely heavily on digital marketing rather than traditional marketing methods. Small familystyle restaurant owners can utilize the findings of this study to guide them into creating a cost-effective social media and traditional marketing plan. Utilizing the findings of this study, small family-style restaurant owners can get a better understanding of how to leverage their employees to implement social media marketing strategies.

With this study, I confirmed that implementing social media marketing strategies does require some formal training or understanding of all the components on the various social media platforms. Small family-style restaurant owners in this study agreed that they did not know how to utilize all the features of the social media platforms. None of the participants in this study utilize the data reports to analyze and strategically implement social media utilization for marketing should be an application to enhance business practices for small family-style restaurant owners. The participants in this study did not participate in any form of training to learn how to implement social media

marketing. If business owners do not take the time to understand how to use social media as a marketing tool, businesses could cause potential damage to their organizations by missed opportunities for growth and sales (Li, 2012). All participants in this study mentioned they did not have one staff person who solely focuses on social media marketing strategies and as the business owner, but they do not have the disposable time to spend on social media for marketing consistently. However, one participant did mention that their younger employees were perceptive, and I believe that recruiting employees who are social media savvy may relieve business owners from the learning curve associated with social media and may increase employment rates in the community. The themes that emerged throughout the data analysis process are applicable to small family-style restaurant owners and other restaurant types and can be beneficial in helping business owners develop and employ social media strategies to increase sales. Additionally, small-family restaurant owners can utilize the knowledge and information included in this study to enhance customer retention and increase WOM to increase sales.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include cause-related marketing for local non-profit organizations and education to future entrepreneurs in the restaurant industry, ultimately having a positive impact on economic development and education in communities. Cause-related marketing is a social responsibility program in which owners of companies donate to nonprofit organizations when a customer purchase from the company (Chanana, & Gill, 2015). Small restaurant businesses use marketing strategies on social media websites to disseminate their marketing message (Kwok & Yu, 2013). Reaching a broader audience allows small family-style businesses owners to increase visibility, which has a direct impact on brand awareness and sales. Small family-style restaurants can leverage their reach and brand awareness to implement cause-related marketing campaigns. Connecting with local non-profits to impact, small family-style restaurant owners in Maryland will influence the community through cause-related marketing and have an impact on social change by donating profits based on sales.

By utilizing the strategies from the findings of the current study, small familystyle restaurant owners may contribute to positive social change by increasing the knowledge of future entrepreneurs in the restaurant industry ultimately increasing the number of entrepreneurs in their community. Restaurant owners can utilize strategies from the findings of this study to also show future how technology can help them launch and grow their businesses faster and drive economic development in their communities. Increasing the demand for employment can have a direct impact on decreasing the unemployment rate within the United States, particularly in the state of Maryland. Yun (2013) noted small businesses make economic growth more sustainable through job creation. Increasing net sales does not only influence individuals who need employment but also those who are interested in opening a small business which contributes to the economy of their community, drive economic development, and improve community relations.

Recommendations for Action

Small family-style restaurant owners, managers, and employees could use the information, research findings, and recommendations in this study to create and

implement effective social media strategies to increase sales. Based on the findings of this study, I have three recommendations for small family-style restaurant owners to consider. The first recommendation is that small family-style restaurant owners should research and determine which social media platforms are the most effective for their restaurant type and align their policies with the goals of the restaurant. I recommend taking advantage of social media trainings to enhance small family-style restaurant owners knowledge and increase their probability of increasing sales through effective strategies with the best social media platforms.

The second recommendation is small family-style restaurant owners to hire an employee who is solely responsible for implementing social media marketing strategies. Small family-style restaurant owners having a dedicated person who can analyze the social media marketing strategies and adjust strategies based on proven data will reduce the time and cost, ultimately having a bigger ROI. Participants of this study had no single employee dedicated to social media and did not understand how to analyze social media data to make informed social media strategy decisions.

The third recommendation is small family-style restaurant owners should create a social media-marketing plan. Participants of this study implemented social media marketing strategies but had no social media-marketing plan to implement these strategies and therefore had no consistency. Consistency drives brand awareness ultimately increasing sales (Hansson et al., 2013). The participants stated they understood the importance of having a social media-marketing plan to strategically implement their strategies they are currently using, but never took the time to create one. The findings of

this study can provide useful information to create training programs on the use of social media marketing for small family-style restaurants. I could disseminate this research to small family-style restaurant owners through journals and conferences.

I may disseminate the research findings in several methods. I plan to provide each research participant with a summary of the study and research findings to share with other small restaurant owners. The ProQuest/UMI dissertation database will house a published version of the current doctoral study for review. I will present the findings of this research at business conferences, training colloquiums, and other avenues of interest when opportunities arise or opportunities I create.

Recommendations for Further Research

The findings of this study provide a foundation for further research in the areas of social media marketing. In this qualitative multiple-case study, two main limitations arose: the data only reflected strategies small family-style restaurant business owners utilize and did not reflect strategies other restaurant type owners utilize. The data only reflected strategies that family-style restaurant business owners utilize that were successful impacted sales and did not reflect strategies that were not successful but could potentially be successful for other family-style restaurant owners. Researchers could expand this study to include other types of restaurants, such as fast food and casual dining restaurants, to see different strategies used based on restaurant style. Conducting a study inclusive of several types of restaurants can offer restaurant owners effective social media marketing strategies to increase sales. This study included small restaurant businesses in

Maryland. Recommendations for further research are to expand research to other geographic locations.

Further research utilizing a quantitative method to examine in-depth financial performance analysis of the relationship between social media marketing techniques and profitability rates may provide additional information on effective marketing strategies. Additionally, I recommend that researchers utilize the themes of this study and develop a quantitative study to measure the effectiveness of each strategy.

Reflections

The Walden University Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) program has been a challenging yet rewarding experience. I began the program with a preconceived notion that I was at an advantage in completing a doctoral study since I obtained masters of business administration (MBA) and was very knowledgeable of the subject. However, I was intimidated by the thought of conducting research because I was not required to conduct research in my MBA program. Although faced with challenges, the DBA doctoral study process enriched my academic competence.

I chose to research social media marketing strategies based on my past marketing experience and passion for social media. I spent 4 years as a marketing consultant and professor. Throughout the year, marketing became my specialty. Social media became the innovation of marketing, and I knew the importance for me to educate others on how to utilize this new marketing tool to grow their businesses.

The participants of this qualitative multiple case study provided knowledge and understanding of social media marketing strategies. The participants openly shared indepth information with me. I gained valuable information on implementing social media marketing and awareness of the obstacles and challenges associated. Prior to conducting interviews, I had no relationship with the participants, which helped to avoid bias. One challenge that I faced during this study was collecting documents pertaining to social media marketing strategies. Not all participants could provide written documentation, such as financial reports or social media analytics, because they did not know how to obtain those reports from social media and did not track their social media investments. I found that documentation was limited.

Conclusion

The usage of social media platforms changed the way organization members directly communicate with their consumers and the way consumers perceive organizations (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). The use of social media by restaurant owners provides access to a new way of marketing their products and communicating with potential customers quickly, cheaply, and with the ability to offer a warm welcome (Sanchís Verdeguer, Peiró-Signes & Segarra-Oña, 2014). Five small family-style restaurant owners in Maryland participated in interviews to explore this subject. After analyzing and coding the data, five themes emerged. The key themes included: (a) social media platforms small family-style restaurant owners use to increase sales, (b) strategies that work best for small family-style restaurant owners to increase sales, (c) employees' response to social media marketing strategies small family-style restaurant sales, and (e) relationship marketing. The results of my study support and align with the evidence I found in preceding and current research that business owners who utilize social media marketing strategies could increase business sales. Using data collected from participant interviews and document review, I found that social media usage for marketing purposes has increased in popularity within businesses when compared to traditional methods of marketing. All participants of this study implement social media as their main source of marketing. Participant responses confirmed the importance in using social media marketing strategies to increase sales. The findings, conclusions, and recommendations could help small restaurant businesses understand effective strategies to implement in their marketing plan. Facebook and Instagram was the most used social media marketing platform by the participants of this study.

The findings of this study affirm that business owners who utilize social media to communicate with current and prospective customers can foster strong relationships and ultimately increase sales through WOM. WOM has the potential to increase sales and brand awareness. I concluded from the findings that social media is a powerful marketing tool for small family-style restaurants, which can ultimately have a positive impact on sales when owners properly implement strategies.

References

- Agnihotri, R., Kothandaraman, P., Kashyap, R., & Singh, R. (2012). Bringing social into sales: The impact of salespeople's social media use on service behaviors and value creation. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 32, 333-348. doi:10.2753/PSS0885-3134320304
- Akerlind, G. S. (2012). Variation and commonality in phenomenological research methods. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *31*, 115-117. doi:10.1080/07294360.2011.642845
- Alharbie, A. (2015). Business growth thru social media marketing. *International Journal of Innovation and Applied Studies*, *13*, 873-880. http://www.ijias.issr-journals.org/
- Almutairi, A. F., Gardner, G. E., & McCarthy, A. (2014). Practical guidance for the use of pattern-matching technique in case-study research: A case presentation. *Nursing & Health Sciences, 16*, 239-244. doi:10.1111/nhs.12096
- Andzulis, J., Panagopoulos, N. G., & Rapp, A. (2012). A review of social media and implications for the sales process. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 32, 305-316. doi:10.2753/PSS0885-3134320302
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:
 Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies (JETERAPS)*, 5(2), 272-281. Retrieved from
 http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.com
- Archibald, M., & Clark, A. (2014). Twitter and nursing research: How diffusion of innovation theory can help uptake. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, e3-e5.

doi:10.1111/jan.12343

- Ashley, C., & Tuten, T. (2015). Creative strategies in social media marketing: An exploratory study of branded social content and consumer engagement. *Psychology & Marketing*, 32(1), 15-27. doi:10.1002/mar.20761
- Asioli, D., Canavari, M., Castellini, A., De Magistris, T., Gottardi, F., Lombardi, P., & Spadoni, R. (2011). The role of sensory attributes in marketing organic food:
 Findings from a qualitative study of Italian consumers. *Journal of Food Distribution Research, 42*(1), 16-21. Retrieved from http://www.fdrsinc.org/journal/
- Auer, S., Graessel, E., Viereckl, C., Kienberger, U., Span, E., & Luttenberger, K. (2015).
 Professional Care Team Burden (PCTB) scale for reliability, validity, and factor analysis: A qualitative study. *Health & Quality of Life Outcomes, 13*, 2-8. doi:10.1186/s12955-014-0199-8
- Azulai, A., & Rankin, J. A. (2012). Triangulation in Canadian doctoral dissertations on aging. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 6, 125-140. doi:10.5172/mra.2012.6.2.125
- Bakeman, M., & Hanson, L. (2012). Bringing social media to small business: A role for employees and students in technology diffusion. *Business Education Innovation Journal*, 4(2), 106-111. Retrieved from http://www.beijournal.com
- Bailey, L. F. (2014). The origin and success of qualitative research. *International Journal of Market Research*, 56, 167-184. Retrieved from

http://journals.ama.org/loi/jmkr?code=amma-site

Barczak, G. (2015). Publishing qualitative versus quantitative research. *The Journal of Product Innovation, 32*, 658-658. doi:10.1111/jpim.12277

Barnes, N., & Jacobsen, S. (2013). Adoption of social media by fast-growing companies: Innovation among the Inc. 500. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*, 7(1), 11-18. Retrieved from http://www.nabusinesspress.com/jmdcopen.html

- Barratt, M. J., Ferris, J. A., & Lenton, S. (2015). Hidden populations, online purposive sampling, and external validity taking off the blindfold. *Field Methods*, 27, 3-21. doi:10.1177/1525822X14526838
- Barusch, A., Gringeri, C., & George, M. (2011). Rigor in qualitative social work
 research: A review of strategies used in published articles. *Social Work Research*, 35(1), 11-19. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/swr

Barutçu, S., & Toma, M. (2013). Sürdürülebilir Sosyal Medya Pazarlaması Ve Sosyal
Medya Pazarlaması Etkinliğinin Ölçümü, *Journal of Internet Applications & Management/İnternet Uygulamaları Ve Yönetimi Dergis*, 4(1), 5-24.
doi:10.5505/iuyd.2013.69188

Baškarada, S. (2014). Qualitative case study guidelines. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(40), 1-18. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/

Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 219-234. doi:10.1177/1468794112468475.

- Bergin, M. (2011). NVivo 8 and consistency in data analysis: reflecting on the use of a qualitative data analysis program. *Nurse Researcher*, 18(3), 6-12. Retrieved from http://journals.rcni.com/journal/nr
- Bettiol, M., Di Maria, E., & Finotto, V. (2012). Marketing in SMEs: The role of entrepreneurial sense making. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 8, 223-248. doi:10.1007/s11365-011-0174-3
- Bernard, H. R. (2013). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Berry, L. L. (2002). Relationship marketing of services perspectives from 1983 and 2000. *Journal of relationship marketing*, 1(1), 59-77. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/wjrm20
- Bilgihan, A., Cheng, P., & Kandampully, J. (2014). Generation Y's dining information seeking and sharing behavior on social networking sites. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 26*, 349-366. doi:10.1108/ijchm-112012-0220
- Bhattacharya, C. B., & Sen, S. (2003). Consumer-company identification: A framework for understanding consumers' relationships with companies. *Journal of Marketing*, 67(2), 76-88. doi:10.1509/jmkg.67.2.76.18609
- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2012). Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end. (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Bohmova, L. (2016). The use of social media in the recruitment process. *FAIMA Business & Management Journal, 4*(2), 20-30. Retrieved from

http://www.faimajournal.ro/archive.html

Bourgeault, I. L. (2012). Critical Issues in the Funding of Qualitative Research. *Journal* of Ethnographic & Qualitative Research, 7(1). Retrieved from http://www.jeqr.org

Branthwaite, A., & Patterson, S. (2011). The power of qualitative research in the era of social media. *Qualitative Market Research*, *14*, 430-440.
doi:10.1108/13522751111163245

- Brayda, W. C., & Boyce, T. D. (2014). So you really want to interview me?: Navigating "sensitive" qualitative research interviewing. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*(1), 318-334. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub.com/home/ijq
- Bristowe, K., Selman, L., & Murtagh, F. (2015). Qualitative research methods in renal medicine: An introduction. *Nephrol, Dialysis, Transplantation, 30*, 1424-1431. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfu410
- Bronner, F., & De Hoog, R. (2014). Social media and consumer choice. *International Journal of Market Research, 56*, 51-71. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2013-053
- Brooks, G., Heffner, A., & Henderson, D. (2014). A SWOT analysis of competitive knowledge from social media for A small start-up business. *The Review of Business Information Systems (Online), 18*(1), 23-34. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2015). *Business research methods*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

- Buchanan, W. L. (2013). Exploring sustainability: The key to corporate profitability in the 21st century (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3604426)
- Carcary, M. (2011). Evidence analysis using CAQDAS: Insights from a qualitative researcher. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, *9*, 10-24.
 Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com/main.html
- Carlson, A., & Lee, C. C. (2015). Followership and social media marketing. Academy of Marketing Studies Journal, 19, 80-101. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/academy-of-marketing-studies-journal
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 545-550. doi:10.1188.14.OWF.545-547
- Casey, D., & Murphy, K. (2009). Issues in using methodological triangulation in research: Dympna Casey and Kathy Murphy explore the advantages and disadvantages of using triangulation. *Nurse Researcher*, *16*, 40-56. doi:10.7748/nr2009.07.16.4.40.c7160
- Castronovo, C., & Huang, L. (2012). Social media in an alternative marketing communication model. *Journal of Marketing Development*, 6, 117-136. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmdcopen.html
- Catoiu, I., & Tichindelean, M. (2012). Relationship marketing-Theoretical consideration. Annales Universitatis Apulensis: Series Oeconomica, 14, 655-663. Retrieved

from http://www.oeconomica.uab.ro/

Chan, Z. C. Y., Fung, Y., & Chien, W. (2013). Bracketing in phenomenology: Only undertaken in the data collection and analysis process? *Qualitative Report*, *18*(59), 1-9. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/chan59.pdf

 Chauhan, K., & Pillai, A. (2013). Role of content strategy in social media brand communities: A case of higher education institutes in India. *The Journal of Product and Brand Management, 22*, 40-51. doi:10.1108/10610421311298687

Chen, M. J., Chen, C. D., & Farn, C. K. (2010). Exploring determinants of citizenship behavior on virtual communities of consumption: The perspective of social exchange theory. *International Journal of Electronic Business Management*, *8*, 195. Retrieved from http://ijebm-

ojs.ie.nthu.edu.tw/IJEBM_OJS/index.php/IJEBM

- Chou, C. (2014). Social media characteristics, customer relationship and brand equity. Journal of Applied Business and Economics, 16(1), 128-139. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jabeopen.html
- Ciprian, P. (2015). The growing importance of social media in business marketing. *Quaestus*, 7, 94-98. Retrieved from http://www.quaestus.ro/

Clark, M., & Melancon, J. (2013). The influence of social media investment on relational outcomes: A relationship marketing perspective. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 5(4), 132-142. Retrieved from http://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/ijms

Claybaugh, C. C., & Haseman, W. D. (2013). Understanding professional connections in

Linkedin- A questions of trust. The Journal of Computer Information Systems,

54(1), 94-105. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/

Constantine, L. S. (2013). Strategies for data gathering and reporting voices from the field: A review of applied ethnography: Guidelines for field research. *Qualitative Report*, *18*(38), 1-7. Retrieved from

http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/constantine22.pdf

- Cook, K. S., & Rice, E. (2003). Social exchange theory. *Handbook of Social Psychology*. Plenurn Publishers: New York, NY.
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41, 89-91. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Cope, G, (2015). Case study research methodology in nursing research. *Oncology Nursing Forum, 42*, 681-682. doi:10.1188/15.ONF.681-682
- Corstjens, M., & Umbligs, A. (2012). The power of evil: The damage of negative social media strongly outweigh positive contributions. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 52, 433-449. doi:10.2501/JAR-52-4-433-449
- Corti, L. (2012). Recent developments in archiving social research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *15*, 281-290.
 doi:10.1080/13645579.2012.688310
- Cridland, E., Jones, S., Caputi, P., & Magee, C. (2015). Qualitative research with families living with autism spectrum disorder: Recommendations for conducting semistructured interviews. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*, 40(1), 78-91. doi:10.3109/13668250.2014.964191

- Cronin-Gilmore, J. (2012). Exploring marketing strategies in small businesses. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*, *6*, 96-107. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmdcopen.html
- Danciu, V. (2013). The future of marketing: An appropriate response to the environment changes. *Theoretical and Applied Economics*, 18, 33-52.
 Retrieved from http://ideas.repec.org
- Denzin, N. K. (2012). Triangulation 2.0. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 6, 80-88. doi:10.1177/1558689812437186
- DeMassis, A., & Kotlar, J. (2014). The case study method in family business research: Guidelines for qualitative scholarship. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 5, 15-29. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.01.007
- Desai, S. S. (2013). An analysis of the competitive marketing strategies of the hospitality industry in UAE. *IUP Journal of Management Research*, *12*(1), 22-32. Retrieved from http://www.iupindia.in/705/ijmr.asp
- Digital Marketing (DMR) (2016). Amazing Facebook statistics. Retrieved from http://expandedramblings.com/index.php/by-the-numbers-17-amazing-facebookstats/
- DiPietro, R. B., Crews, T. B., Gustafson, C., & Strick, S. (2012). The use of social networking sites in the restaurant industry: Best practices. *Journal of Foodservice Business Research*, 15, 265-284. doi:10.1080/15378020.2012.706193
- Duff, P. A. (2014). Case study research on language learning and use. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, *34*, 233-255. doi:10.1017/S0267190514000051

Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 41, 1319-1320. doi:10.1007/s105080120016-6

Edwin, T. S., Chandramohan, A. C., Rao, S. N., & Rao, S. G. (2014). Role of advertising in small media with reference to small businesses. *International Monthly Referred Journal of Research in Management & Technology*, *3*, 67-73. Retrieved from http://www.abhinavjournal.com

- El Haddad, R. (2015). Exploration of Revenue management practices-case of an upscale budget hotel chain. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 27, 1791-1813. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-08-2013-0390
- Ejimabo, N. (2015). The effective research process: Unlocking the advantages of ethnographic strategies in the qualitative research methods. *European Scientific Journal, 11*, 356-383. Retrieved from http://www.eujournal.org/index.php/esj
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 43, 13-35. doi:10.1163/156916212X632943
- Erdoğmuş, İ. E., & Cicek, M. (2012). The impact of social media marketing on brand loyalty. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *58*, 1353-1360. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.09.1119
- Fan, W., & Gordon, M. D. (2014). The power of social media analytics. *Communications of the ACM*, 57, 74-81. doi:10.1145/2602574

Faseleh-Jahromi, M., Moattari, M., & Peyrovi, H. (2013). Iranian nurses' perceptions of

social responsibility: A qualitative study. *Nursing Ethics*, *21*, 289-298. doi:10.1177/0969733013495223

Feng, J., & Papatla, P. (2011). Advertising: stimulant or suppressant of online word of mouth?. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 25(2), 75-84. doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2010.11.002

- Fiore, A. M., Niehm, L. S., Hurst, J. L., Son, J., & Sadachar, A. (2013). Entrepreneurial marketing: Scale validation with small, independently-owned businesses. *Journal* of Marketing Development & Competitiveness, 7, 63-86. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmdcopen.html
- Fox, H. L. (2013). Strategic human resource development in small businesses in the United States. Academy of Entrepreneurship Journal, 19(1), 77-118. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/academy-of-entrepreneurship-journal/
- Frazer, L. (2012). The effect of internal control on the operating activities of small restaurants. *Journal of Business & Economics Research (Online)*, 10, 361-374. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/journal-of-businesseconomics-research-jber/
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report, 20*, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://www.tqr.nova.edu
- Gaber, H. R., & Wright, L. T. (2014). Fast-food advertising in social media. A case study on Facebook in Egypt. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, 9(1), 52-63. Retrieved from www.jbrmr.com

- Garrett-Howard, C. (2012). Factors influencing advancement of women senior leaders' in aerospace companies (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3495166)
- Geho, P. R., & Dangelo, J. (2012). The evolution of social media as a marketing tool for entrepreneurs. *The Entrepreneurial Executive*, 17, 61. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/entrepreneurial-executive/
- Ghiselli, R., & Ma, J. (2015). Restaurant social media usage in china. Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes, 7, 251-265. Retrieved from http://www.emeraldinsight.com/toc/whatt/4/2
- Gibbins, J., Bhatia, R., Forbes, K., & Reid, C. M. (2014). What do patients with advanced incurable cancer want from the management of their pain? A qualitative study.
 Palliative medicine, 28(1), 71-78. doi:10.1177/0269216313486310
- Gilfoil, D. M., Aukers, S. M., & Jobs, C. G. (2015). Developing and implementing a social media program while optimizing return on investment- An MBA program case study. *American Journal of Business Education (Online)*, *8*, 31-48. doi:10.19030/ajbe.v8i1.9015
- Griffith, M. A. (2014). Consumer acquiescence to informed consent: The influence of vulnerability, motive, trust, and suspicion. *Journal of Customer Behavior*, 13, 207-235. doi:10.1362/147539214X1403453768741
- Gummesson, E., & Grönroos, C. (2012). The emergence of the new service marketing: Nordic school perspectives. *Journal of Service Management*, 23, 479-497 doi:10.1108/09564231211260387

Gummerus, J., Liljander, V., Weman, E., & Pihlstrom, M. (2012). Customer engagement in a Facebook brand community. *Management Research Review*, 35, 857-877. doi:10.1108/01409171211256578

Gupta, V. (2016). Impact of social media on purchase decision making of customers. International Journal on Global Business Management & Research, 5(2), 73. Retrieved from http://globalimpactfactor.com/international-journal-of-globalbusiness-management-and-research/

- Gupta, A., & Sahu, G. P. (2012). A literature review and classification of relationship marketing research. *International Journal of Customer Relationship Marketing* and Management, 3(1), 41-58. doi:10.4018/ijcrmm.2012010104
- Haahr, A., Norlyk, A., & Hall, E. (2014). Ethical challenges embedded in qualitative research interviews with close relatives. *Nursing Ethics*, *21*(1), 6-15. doi:10.1177/0969733013486370
- Hancock, F., & Epston, D. (2013). A narrative enquiry approach to strategic planning in community organisations: A ritual of legacy in transition. *The International Journal of Narrative Therapy and Community Work*, (2), 46-57. Retrieved from http://dulwichcentre.com.au

Hanaysha, J. (2016). The importance of social media advertisements in enhancing brand equity: A study on fast food restaurant industry in Malaysia. *International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology*, *7*, 46-51.
doi:10.18178/ijimt.2016.7.2.643

Hanson, J., Balmer, D., & Giardino, A. (2011). Qualitative research methods for medical

educators. Academic Pediatrics, 11, 375-386. doi:10.1016/j.acap.2011.05.001

- Hansson, L., Wrangmo, A., & Klaus, S. S. (2013). Optimal ways for companies to use Facebook as a marketing channel. *Journal of Information, Communication & Ethics in Society, 11*, 112-126. doi:10.1108/jices-12-2012-0024
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member check? Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy? *The Qualitative Report*, 17, 510-517. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38, 23-38. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hayes, B., Bonner, A., & Douglas, C. (2013). An introduction to mixed methods research for nephrology nurses. *Renal Society of Australasia Journal*, 9(1), 8-14. Retrieved from https://www.renalsociety.org
- Herranz, J., & Nin, J. (2014). Secure and efficient anonymization of distributed confidential databases. *International Journal of Information Security*, 13, 497-512. doi:10.1007/s10207-014-0237-x
- Herman, W. (2015). Marketing communication model in social network Facebook. Information Management and Business Review, 7, 42-45. Retrieved from http://www.ifrnd.org/JournalDetail.aspx?JournalID=1
- Hoare, Z., & Hoe, J. (2012). Understanding quantitative research: Part 1. *Nursing Standard*, *27*, 52-57. doi:10.7748/ns2012.12.27.15.52.c9485

- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative case study research. *Nurse Researcher*, *20*, 12-17.
 doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326
- Hunt, S. D., Arnett, D. B., & Madhavaram, S. (2006). The explanatory foundations of relationship marketing theory. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 21(2), 72-87. Retrieved from http://www.emeraldinsight.com/journal/jbim
- Hussein, A. (2015). The use of triangulation in social sciences research: Can qualitative and quantitative methods be combined?. *Journal of Comparative Social Work*, *4*(1). Retrieved from http://journal.uia.no/index.php/JCSW
- Hutter, K., Hautz, J., Dennhardt, S., & Füller, J. (2013). The impact of user interactions in social media on brand awareness and purchase intention: The case of MINI on Facebook. *The Journal of Product and Brand Management, 22,* 342-351. doi:10.1108/JPBM-05-2013-0299
- Ifinedo, P. (2011). An empirical analysis of factors influencing internet/e-business technologies adoption by SMEs in Canada. *International Journal of Information Technology & Decision Making*, 10, 731-766. doi:10.1142/S0219622011004543

Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(42), 1-10. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/

Jeanjean, L. (2012). 5 Tips to increase your Facebook fan base. *Journal of Financial Planning*, *1*(1), 20-21. Retrieved from https://www.onefpa.org/journal/Pages/default.aspx

- Jennings, S. E., Blount, J. R., & Weatherly, M. G. (2014). Social media: A virtual Pandora's box prevalence, possible legal liabilities, and policies. *Business and Professional Communication Quarterly*, 77, 96-113. doi:10.1177/2329490613517132
- Johnson, R., & Waterfield, J. (2004). Making words count: The value of qualitative research. *Physiotherapy Research International*, *9*, 121-131. doi:10.1002/pri.312
- Jones, N., Borgman, R., & Ulusoy, E. (2015). Impact of social media on small businesses. *Journal of Small Businesses and Enterprise Development*, 22, 611-632. doi:10.1108/JSBED-09-2013-0133
- Jin, S. A., & Phua, J. (2014). Following celebrities' tweets about brands: The impact of Twitter-based electronic word-of-mouth on consumers' source credibility perception, buying intention, and social identification with celebrities. *Journal of Advertising*, 43, 181-195. doi:10.1080/00913367.2013.827606
- Kabadayi, S., & Price, K. (2014). Consumer-brand engagement on Facebook: Liking and commenting behaviors. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 8, 203-223. doi:10.1108/jrim-12-2013-0081
- Kafle, N. P. (2013) Hermeneutic phenomenological research method simplified. *Bodhi: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 5(1), 181-200. doi:103126/Bodhi.v5il.8053

Kang, J., Tang, L., & Fiore, A. M. (2014). Enhancing consumer-brand relationships on

restaurant Facebook fan pages: Maximizing consumer benefits and increasing active participation. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *36*, 145-155. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.08.015

Kang, J., Tang, L., & Fiore, A. M. (2015). Restaurant brand pages on Facebook:
Do active member participation and monetary sales promotions matter? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 27, 1662-1684. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-02-2014-0075

- Karahanna, E., Xu, S. X., & Zhang, N. (. (2015). Psychological ownership motivation and use of social media. *Journal of Marketing Theory & Practice*, 23, 185-207. doi:10.1080/10696679.2015.1002336
- Karimi, S., & Naghibi, H. S. (2015). Social media marketing (SMM) strategies for small to medium enterprises (SMES). *International Journal of Information, Business and Management*, 7(4), 86-98. Retrieved from http://www.academia.edu

Keller, E., & Fay, B. (2012). Word-of-mouth advocacy: A new key to advertising effectiveness. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *52*, 459-464.
doi:10.2501/JAR-52-4

- Khan, M. T. (2014). Relationship marketing –Some aspects (review). International Journal of Information, Business and Management, 6(2), 108-122. Retrieved from http://ijibm.elitehall.com/
- Kietzmann, J., & Canhoto, A. (2013). Bittersweet! Understanding and managing electronic word of mouth. *Journal of Public Affairs*, *13*, 146-159. doi:10.1002/pa.1470

- Kim, A. J., & Ko, E. (2012). Do social media marketing activities enhance customer equity? An empirical study of luxury fashion brand. *Journal of Business Research*, 65, 1480-1486. Retrieved from https://www.journals.elsevier.com/journal-of-business-research/
- Kim, S., Koh, Y., Cha, J., & Lee, S. (2015). Effects of social media on firm value for US restaurant companies. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 49, 40-46. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1002/(ISSN)1479-1854
- Koelsch, L. E. (2013). Reconceptualizing the member check interview. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 12(1), 168-179. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub.com/home/ijq
- Koopman-Boyden, P., & Richardson, M. (2013). An evaluation of mixed methods
 (diaries and focus groups) when working with older people. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *16*(5), 389-401. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/toc/tsrm20/current
- Kramer-Kile, M. L. (2012). Research column: Situating methodology within qualitative research. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 22(4), 27-31. Retrieved from http://pappin.com/journals/cjcn.php
- Krause, A. E., North, A. C., & Heritage, B. (2014). The uses and gratifications of using Facebook music listening applications. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *39*, 71-77. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.07.001

- Ku, Y. C., Chen, R., & Zhang, H. (2013). Why do users continue using social networking sites? An exploratory study of members in the United States and Taiwan.
 Information & Management, 50, 571-581. doi:10.1016/j.im.2013.07.011
- Kumar, V., & Mirchandani, R. (2012). Increasing the ROI of social media marketing.
 MIT Sloan Management Review, 54, 55-61. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu
- Kuofie, M., Gholston, K., & Hakim, A. C. (2015). An overview of social media for marketing. *International Journal of Global Business*, 8(2), 65-82. Retrieved from http://www.inderscience.com/jhome.php?jcode=ijbg
- Kwok, L., & Yu, B. (2013). Spreading social media messages on Facebook: An analysis of restaurant business-to-consumer communications. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 54, 84-94. doi:10.1177/1938965512458360
- Ladipo, P. K., Nwagwu, K. O., & Alarape, W. B. (2013). Relative communication power of selected advertising media. *International Business and Management*, 6(2), 77-87. Retrieved from https://www.tio.nl/en/international business management/
- Lapointe, P. (2012) Measuring Facebook's impact on marketing. The Proverbial hits the fan. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *52*, 286-287.
 doi:10.2501/JAR-52-3-286-287
- Laroche, M., Habibi, M. R., Richard, M., & Sankaranarayanan, R. (2013). The effects of social media based brand communities on brand community markers, value creation practices, brand trust, and brand loyalty. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28, 1755-1767. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2012.04.016

- Leech, N. L., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2011). Beyond constant comparison qualitative data analysis: Using NVivo. School Psychology Quarterly, 26(1), 70. doi:10.1037/a0022711
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2013). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.
 Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4, 324-327. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Levy, P. (2011). Setting social strategy. *Marketing News*, 45(3), 4. Retrieved from http://www.ama.org/
- Li, X. (2012). Weaving social media into a business proposal project. *Business Communication Quarterly*, *75*, 68-75. doi:10.1177/1080569911432629
- Lunnay, B., Borlagdan, J., McNaughton, D., & Ward, P. (2015). Ethical use of social media to facilitate qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 99-109. doi:10.1177/1049732314549031
- Luigi, D., Oana, S., Mihai, T., & Simona, V. (2011). Disclosing the promising power of social media-an important digital marketing tool. *Studies in Business & Economics*, 6, 37-45. Retrieved from http://eccsf.ulbsibiu.ro
- Luo, X., & Zhang, J. (2013). How do consumer buzz and traffic in social media marketing predict the value of the firm? *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 30, 213-238. doi:10.2753/MIS0742-1222300208

Malhotra, C. K., & Malhotra, A. (2016). How CEOs can leverage twitter. MIT Sloan

Management Review, 57, 73-79. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu

Mancuso, J., & Stuth, K. (2011). Can social media metrics actually enhance the value of qualitative research? *Marketing Research*, *23*(4), 32-32. Retrieved from https://www.ama.org/Pages/default.aspx

Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research?: A review of qualitative interviews in is research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1), 11-22. Retrieved from http://www.iacis.org/jcis/jcis.php

Marshall, G. W., Moncrief, W. C., Rudd, J. M., & Lee, N. (2012). Revolution in sales: The impact of social media and related technology on the selling environment. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, *32*, 349-363. doi:10.2753/PSS0885-3134320305

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2014). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mergel, I., & Bretschneider, S. I. (2013). A three-stage adoption process for social media use in government. *Public Administration Review*, *73*, 390-400.
 doi:10.1111/puar.12021
- Merriam, S. B. (1998). Qualitative research and case study applications in education.
 Revised and expanded from case study research in education. San Francisco, CA:
 Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Meuter, M. L., McCabe, D. B., & Curran, J. M. (2013). Electronic word-of-mouth versus interpersonal word-of-mouth: are all forms of word-of-mouth equally influential?.

Services Marketing Quarterly, *34*, 240-256. doi:10.1080/15332969.2013.798201

- Mikėnė, S., Valavičienė, N., & Gaižauskaitė, I. (2013). qualitative interviewing: fieldwork realities. *Socialinis darbas*, *12*(1), 49-62. Retrieved from https://www.mruni.eu/lt/universitetas/fakultetai/edukologijos-ir-socialinio-darboinstitutas/studijos/bakalauro-studiju-programos/socialinis-darbas-ir-teisespagrindai/
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A., & Saldaña (2014). Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Molina-Azorin, J., Lopez-Gamero, M., Pereira-Moliner, J., & Pertusa-Ortega, E. (2012).
 Mixed methods studies in entrepreneurship research: Applications and contributions. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development, 24*, 425-456.
 doi:10.1080/08985626.2011.603363
- Morgan, R. M., & Hunt, S. D. (1994). The commitment-trust theory of relationship marketing. *Journal of marketing*, 20-38. Retrieved from https://www.ama.org/Publications/JournalofMarketing/Pages/Current-Issue.aspx
- Moore, D., & Bowden-Everson, J. L-H. (2012). An appealing connection-the role of relationship marketing in the attraction and retention of students in an Australian tertiary context. *Asian Social Science*, 8(14), 65-80. doi:10.5539/ass.v8n14p65
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Mukherjee, A., & Nath, P. (2007). Role of electronic trust in online retailing a re-

examination of the commitment-trust theory. *European Journal of Marketing*, *41*. 1173-1202. doi:10.1108/03090560710773390

Mukhopadhyay, S., & Gupta, R. (2014). Survey of qualitative research methodology in strategy research and implication for Indian researchers. *Survey of Qualitative Research Methodology in Strategy Research, 18*, 109-123.

doi:10.1177/0972262914528437

- National Restaurant Association. (2014). Restaurant industry forecast. Retrieved from https://www.restaurant.org/Downloads/PDFs/News-Research/research/RestaurantIndustryForecast2014.pdf
- Naidu, D., & Patel, A. (2013). A comparison of qualitative and quantitative methods of detecting earnings management: Evidence from two Fijian private and two Fijian state-owned entities. *Australasian Accounting Business and Finance Journal*, 7(1), 79-98. doi:10.14453/aabfj.v7i1.6
- Naylor, R. W., Lamberton, C. P., & West, P. M. (2012). Beyond the Like button: The impact of mere virtual presence on brand evaluations and purchase intentions in social media settings. *Journal of Marketing*, *76*(6), 105-120. doi:10.1509/jm.11.0105

Nelson-Field, K., Riebe, E., & Sharp, B. (2012). What's not to Like? Can a
Facebook fanbase give a brand the advertising reach it needs? *Journal of Advertising Research, 52*, 262-269. doi:10.2501/JAR-52-2-262-269

Neuman, D. (2014). Qualitative research in educational communications and technology: A brief introduction to principles and procedures. *Journal of Computing in Higher* *Education, 26*(1), 69-86. doi:10.1007/s12528-014-9078-x

- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2014). Qualitative data analysis: A practical example. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *17*(1), 2-3. doi:10.1136/eb-2013-101603
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, *18*, 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Nysveen, H., & Pedersen, P. E. (2014). Influences of co-creation on brand experience The role of brand engagement. *International Journal of Market Research*, 56, 807-832. Retrieved from https://www.mrs.org.uk/ijmr
- Öberseder, M., Schlegelmilch, B., & Gruber, V. (2011). Why don't consumers care about CSR?: A qualitative study exploring the role of CSR in consumption decisions. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *104*, 449-460. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0925-7
- Odena, O. (2013). Using software to tell a trustworthy, convincing and useful story. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *16*, 355-372. doi:10.1080/13645579.2012.706019
- Ody-Brasier, A., & Vermeulen, F. (2014). The price you pay: Price-setting as a response to norm violations in the market for champagne grapes. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *59*, 109-144. doi:10.1177/0001839214523002

Olsen, J. D., McAllister, C., Grinnell, L. D., Walters, K. G., Appunn, F. (2016). Applying constant comparative method with multiple investigators and inter-coder reliability. *The Qualitative Report*, *21*, 26-42. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/

O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the

notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research Journal, 13*, 190-197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106

- Østergaard, P., & Fitchett, J. (2012). Relationship marketing and the order of simulation. *Marketing Theory, 12,* 233-249. doi:10.1177/1470593112451393
- Panagiotakopoulos, A. (2014). Enhancing staff motivation in tough periods: Implications for business leaders. *Strategic Direction*, *30*(6), 35-36. doi:10.1108/SD-05-2014-0060
- Papasolomou, I., & Melanthious, Y. (2012). Social media: Marketing public relations' new best friend. *Journal of Promotion Management*, 18, 319-328. doi:10.1080/10496491.2012.696458
- Parker, L. (2014). Qualitative perspectives: Through a methodological lens. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 11(1), 13-28. doi:10.1108/QRAM-02-2014-0013
- Parsons, A. (2013). Using social media to reach consumers: A content analysis of official Facebook pages. *Academy of marketing studies Journal*, *17*(2), 27. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/academy-of-marketing-studies-journal/
- Patino, A., Pitta, D. A., & Quinones, R. (2012). Social media's emerging importance in market research. *The Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 29, 233-237. doi:10.1108/07363761211221800
- Patton, M. Q. (2005). *Qualitative research*. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015) Qualitative research & evaluation methods (5th ed.). Thousand

Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Pencheva, A., & Georgieva, D. (2012). Social networks and business 2.0. *Trakia Journal of Sciences*, 10, 86-89. Retrieved from http://www.uni-sz.bg
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 76-85. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR20/2/percy5.pdf
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, *17*, 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Pliska, R. (2012). Social media: Identifying the business opportunities: The personal experiences of a social media user. *Real Estate Issues,*

37(1), 48-52. Retrieved from http://www.cre.org/

- Ponterotto, J. G. (2014). Best practices in psychobiographical research. *Qualitative Psychology*, *1*, 77-90. doi:10.1037/qup0000005
- Pookulangara, S., & Koesler, K. (2011). Cultural influence on consumers' usage of social networks and its impact on online purchase intentions. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 18, 348-354. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2011.03.003

Powers, T., Advincula, D., Austin, M. S., Graiko, S., & Snyder, J. (2012). Digital and social media in the purchase decision process: A special report from the advertising research foundation. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *52*, 479-489. doi:10.2501/JAR-52-4-479-48

Public Relations Tactics (2016). 2016 Trends: Video, work messaging. Public Relations

Society of America, 23(1), 1. Retrieved from http://prsa.org

- Qu, S., & Dumay, J. (2011). The qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Research in Accounting and Management*, 8, 238-264, Retrieved from http://www.emeraldinsight.com/loi/qram
- Rabionet, S. E. (2011). How I learned to design and conduct semi-structured interviews: An ongoing and continuous journey. *The Qualitative Report*, *16*(2), 563. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Raeburn, T., Schmied, V., Hungerford, C., & Cleary, M. (2015). The contribution of case study design to supporting research on clubhouse psychosocial rehabilitation.
 BMC Research Notes, 8(521), 1-7. doi:10.1186/s13104-015-1521-1
- Radcliff, L. (2013). Qualitative diaries: Uncovering the complexities of work-life decision- making. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 8, 163-180. doi:10.1108/QROM-04-2012-1058
- Rademaker, L. L., Grace, E. J., & Curda, S. K. (2012). Using computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS) to re-examine traditionally analyzed data: Expanding our understanding of the data and of ourselves as scholars. *The Qualitative Report*, *17*(43), 1-11. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR17/rademaker.pdf
- Ramsaran-Fowdar, R., & Fowdar, S. (2013). The implications of Facebook marketing for organizations. *Contemporary Management Research*, 9, 73-83. doi:10.7903/cmr.9710

- Rapp, A., Beitelspacher, L., Grewal, D., & Hughes, D. (2013). Understanding social media effects across seller, retailer, and consumer interactions. *Journal of The Academy of Marketing Science*, 41, 547-566. doi:10.1007/s11747-013-0326-9
- Ratcliff, R., & Doshi, K. (2013). Using the Bass Model to analyze the diffusion of innovations at the base of the pyramid. *Business & Society*, 55, 271–291 doi:10.1177/0007650313479529
- Ritch, E. L. (2014). Extending sustainability from food to fashion consumption: The lived experience of working mothers. *International Journal of Management Cases*, 16(2), 17-31. Retrieved from http://www.ijmc.org/ijmc/home.html
- Riehle, H., Grindy, Bruce., & Stensson, A. (2014). 2014 Restaurant industry forecast. Retrieved from National Restaurant Association website: https://www.restaurant.org/Downloads/PDFs/News-Research/research/RestaurantIndustryForecast2014.pdf
- Robinson, O. C., (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide, *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *11*, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rocha, T., Jansen, C., Lofti, E., & Fraga, R. (2013). An exploratory study on the use of social networks in building customer relationships. *Review of Business Management*, 15, 262-282. doi:10.7819/rbgn.v15i47.953
- Rodriguez, M., Peterson, R. M., & Krishnan, V. (2012). Social media's influence on business-to-business sales performance. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 32, 365-378. doi:10.2753/PSS0885-3134320306

Rogers, E. (1983). Diffusion of innovations. (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Free Press.

Rogers, E. (1995). Diffusion of innovations. (4th ed.). New York, NY: Free Press.

Rogers, E. (2003). Diffusion of innovations. (5th ed.). New York, NY: Free Press.

- Rohm, A., Kaltcheva, V. D., & Milne, G. R. (2013). A mixed-method approach to examining brand-consumer interactions driven by social media. *Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing*, 7(4), 295-311. doi:10.1108/JRIM-01-2013-0009
- Rowley, J. (2012). Evidence-based marketing. *International Journal of Market Research*, 54, 521-541. doi:10.2501/IJMR-54-4-521-541
- Roy, A., Maxwell, L., & Carson, M. (2014). How is social media being used by small and medium-sized enterprises? *Journal of Business & Behavioral Sciences*, 26, 127-137. Retrieved from http://asbbs.org/jsbbs.html
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rugova, B., & Prenaj, B. (2016). Social media as marketing tool for smes: Opportunities and challenges. Academic Journal of Business, Administration, Law and Social Sciences, 2, 85-97. Retrieved from http://iipccl.org/?page_id=2388
- Rui, H., Shi, Z., & Whinston, A. B., (2014). Content sharing in a social broadcasting environment: Evidence from Twitter. *MIS Quarterly*, 38, 123–A6. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2341243
- Sanchís Verdeguer, J. V., Peiró-Signes, Á., & Segarra-Oña, M. (2014). Promoting restaurants using social networks: Still A lot of room for

improvement. The International Business & Economics Research

Journal, 13, 1613-1618. Retrieved from

http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/international-business-economicsresearch-journal-iber/

- Samanta, I. (2012). The effect of social media in firms' marketing strategy. Journal of Marketing and Operations Management Research, 2, 163-173. Retrieved from https://www.novapublishers.com
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 18, 179-183. doi:10.1002/nur.4770180211
- Sanderson, H., & Lea, J. (2012). Implementation of the clinical facilitation model within an Australian rural setting: The role of the clinical facilitator. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 12, 333–339. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2012.04.001
- Sashi, C.M. (2012). Customer engagement, buyer-seller relationships, and social media. *Management Decision*, 50(2), 253-272. doi:10.1108/00251741211203551
- Saxena, A., & Khanna, U. (2013). Advertising on social network sites: A structural equation modeling approach. *Vision: The Journal of Business Perspective*, 17, 17-25. doi:10.1177/0972262912469560
- Schaupp, L. C., & Bélanger, F. (2014). The value of social media for small businesses. Journal of Information Systems, 28(1), 187-207. doi:10.2308/isys-50674
- Schlinke, J., & Crain, S. (2013). Social media from an integrated marketing and compliance perspective. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 67, 85-92. Retrieved from https://www.financialpro.org/pubs/journal_index.cfm

- Schulze, C., Schöler, L., & Skiera, B. (2015). Customizing social media marketing. MIT Sloan Management Review, 56(2), 8-10. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu
- Shaw, E. H. (2012). Marketing strategy. *Journal of Historical Research in Marketing*, *4*, 30-55. doi:10.1108/17557501211195055
- Sheth, J. N., & Parvatlyar, A. (1995). Relationship marketing in consumer markets:
 antecedents and consequences. *Journal of the Academy of marketing Science*, 23, 255-271. Retrieved from

http://www.springer.com/business+%26+management/journal/11747

Shi, M., & Wojnicki, A. (2014). Money talks... to online pinion leaders: What motivates opinion leaders to make social-network referrals? *Journal of Advertising Research, 54*, 81-91. Retrieved from http://www.journalofadvertisingresearch.com

- Shiau, W. L., & Luo, M. M. (2012). Factors affecting online group buying intention and satisfaction: A social exchange theory perspective. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28, 2431-2444. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2012.07.030
- Siemiatycki, M. (2012). The role of planning scholar research, conflict, and social change. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, *32*, 147-159. doi:10.1177/0739456X12440729

Singh, A. S. (2014). Conducting case study research in non-profit organisations. Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 17(1), 77-84. doi:10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024

- Small Business Administration. (2014). Small business size standards. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov/contracting/getting-started-contractor/make-sure-you-meetsba-size-standards/what-are-small-business-size-standards
- Smit, P. (2012). A phenomenological examination of supply chain professionals' experiences to improve cash-to-cash positioning (Doctoral dissertation).
 Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (Order No.3510290)
- Smith, K. (2011). Digital marketing strategies that millennials find appealing, motivating, or just annoying. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, *19*, 489-499. doi:10.1080/0965254X.2011.581383
- Smith, S. (2013). Conceptualising and evaluating experiences with brands on Facebook. International Journal of Market Research, 55, 357-374. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2013-034
- Sparks, A. (2012). Psychological empowerment and job satisfaction between Baby
 Boomer and Generation X nurses. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 20, 451-460.
 doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2011.01282.x
- Srivastav, G., & Shah, S. (2013). A study on impact of ICT in social media marketing. International Journal of Applied Services Marketing Perspectives, 2, 512-515. Retrieved from http://pezzottaitejournals.net

Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis [DX Reader version]. Retrieved from https://www.books.google.com

Stephen, A. T., & Galak, J. (2012). The effects of traditional and social earned media

on sales: A study of a microlending marketplace. *Journal of Marketing Research, 49*, 624-639. Retrieved from http://journals.ama.org/loi/jmkr

- Stiles, P. G., Epstein, M., Poythress, N., & Edens, J. F. (2012). Protecting people who decline to participate in research: An example from a prison setting. *IRB: Ethics* & Human Research, 34(2), 15-18. Retrieved from http://teenpsychiatry.thehastingscenter.org
- Stuckey, H. L. (2014). Three types of interviews: Qualitative research methods in social health. *Journal of Social Health Diabetes*, *1*, 56-59. doi:10.4103/23210656.115294
- Svatosová, V. (2012). Social media such as the phenomenon of modern business. Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness, 6(4), 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jmdcopen.html
- Tabaku, E., & Mersini, Z. M. (2014). An overview of marketing means used by nonprofit organizations: A detailed overview of NPOs operating in the district of Elbasan. *Journal of Marketing and Management*, 5, 66-83. Retrieved from http://www.gsmi-ijgb.com/Pages/JMM.aspx
- Taining, Y. (2012). The decision behavior of Facebook users. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 52, 50-59. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/loi/ucis20#.VyJKgmBk6i4

Taneja, S., & Toombs, L. (2014). Putting a face on small businesses: Visibility, viability,

and sustainability the impact of social media on small business marketing. Academy of Marketing Studies Journal, 18, 249-260. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/

- Teng, S., Wei Khong, K., Wei Goh, W., & Yee, L. C. (2014). Examining the antecedents of persuasive eWOM messages in social media. *Online Information Review*, 38, 746-768. doi:10.1108/OIR-04-2014-0089
- Thach, L., Lease, T., & Barton, M. (2016). Exploring the impact of social media practices on wine sales in US wineries. *Journal of Direct, Data and Digital Marketing Practice, 17*(4), 272-283. doi:10.1057/dddmp.2016.5
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research: Scientific inquiry. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, 16, 151-155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Thompson, P., Williams, R., & Thomas, B. (2013). Are UK SMEs with active web sites more likely to achieve both innovation and growth?. *Journal of Small Business* and Enterprise Development, 20, 934-965. doi:10.1108/JSBED-05-2012-0067
- Tirgari, V. (2012). Information technology policies and procedures against unstructured data: A phenomenological study of information technology professionals. *Academy of Information & Management Sciences Journal*, 15, 87-106. Retrieved from http://alliedacademies.org
- Toombs, L. A., & Harlow, R. M. (2014). More than just like: An entrepreneurial approach to creating a social media ethos in small firms. *Academy of Marketing Studies Journal*, 18, 275-286. Retrieved from http://www.readperiodicals.com

- Torrance, I. (2012). What clinical records should we retain and for how long? *Occupational Medicine*, *62*, 162-164. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqr203
- Trafimow, D. (2014). Considering quantitative and qualitative issues together. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 15-24.
 doi:10.1080/14780887.2012.743202
- Trochim, W., Donnelly, J., & Arora, K. (2015). *Research methods: The essential knowledge base* (2nd ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.
- Trotter, R. T. (2012). Qualitative research sample design and sample size: Resolving and unresolved issues and inferential imperatives. *Preventive Medicine*, 55, 398-400. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.07.003
- Tsan, M. F., & Tsan, L. W. (2015). Assessing the quality of human research protection programs to improve protection of human subjects participating in clinical trials. *Clinical Trials. 12*, 224-231. doi:10.1177/1740774514568688
- Tuohy, D., Cooney, A., Dowling, M., Murphy, K., & Sixmith, J. (2013). An overview of interpretive phenomenology as a research methodology. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(6), 17-20. doi:10.7748/nr2013.07.20.6.17.e315
- Turner, D. W. III. (2010). Qualitative interview design: A practical guide for novice investigators. *The Qualitative Report*, 15, 754-760. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu
- Turner, B., Kim, H., & Andersen, D. (2013). Improving coding procedures for purposive text data: Researchable questions for qualitative system dynamics modeling. *Systems Dynamics Review*, 29, 253-263. doi:10.1002/sdr.1506

- U.S. National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/
- Utz, S., Kerkhof, P., & van den Bos, J. (2012). Consumers rule: How consumer reviews influence perceived trustworthiness of online stores. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 11, 49-58. doi:10.1016/j.elerap.2011.07.010
- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 15(3), 398–405. doi:10.1111/nhs.12048
- Valizadeh, L., Zamanzadeh, V., Rahmani, A., Howard, F., Nikanfar, A., & Feguson, C.
 (2012). Cancer disclosure: Experiences of Iranian cancer patients. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 14, 250-256. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2018.2012.00686.x
- VanAuken, K. (2015). Using social media to improve customer engagement and promote products and services. *Journal of Airport Management*, 9, 109-117. Retrieved from http://www.ingentaconnect.com
- Varini, K., & Sirsi, P. (2012). Social media and revenue management: Where should the two meet? *Journal of Technology Management for Growing Economies*, *3*, 33-46. Retrieved from http://journal.chitkara.edu.in/
- Varaki, B. S., Floden, R. E., & Kalatehjafarabadi, T. J. (2015). Para-quantitative methodology: Reclaiming experimentalism in educational research. *Open Review* of Educational Research, 2(1), 26-41. doi:10.1080/23265507.2014.986189

- Värlander, S. (2008). The role of students' emotions in formal feedback situations. *Teaching in Higher Education, 13*(2), 145–156. doi:10.1080/13562510801923195
- Vauterin, J. J., Linnanen, L., & Marttila, E. (2011). Issues of delivering quality customer service in a higher education environment. *International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences*, 3, 181-198. doi:10.1108/17566691111146087
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 37(1), 21-54 Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/
- Vinerean, S., Cetina, I., Dumitrescu, L., & Tichindelean, M. (2013). The effects of social media marketing on online consumer behavior. *International Journal of Business* and Management, 8(14), 66-79. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n14p66
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research, 10*, 69-80. http://www.cmawebline.org/
- Wang, H. (2012). Practitioner perspective six P's of youth social media from a young consumer's perspective. *Young Consumers*, *13*, 303-317.
 doi:10.1108/17473611211261674

Wang, J. C., & Chang, C. H. (2013). How online social ties and product-related risks influence purchase intentions: A Facebook experiment. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 12(5), 337-346. Retrieved from https://www.journals.elsevier.com/electronic-commerce-research-andapplications/

- Wang, X., Yu, C., & Wei, Y. (2012). Social media peer communication and impacts on purchase intentions: A consumer socialization framework. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 26, 198-208. doi:10.1016/j.intmar.2011.11.004
- Walaski, P. (2013). Social media. *Professional Safety*, 58, 40-49. Retrieved from http://www.asse.org/professionalsafety
- Wallace, E., Buil, I., de Chernatony, L., & Hogan, M. (2014). Who likes you and why? A typology of Facebook fans. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 54, 92-109. doi:10.2501/JAR-54-1-092-109
- Walshe, C. (2011). The evaluation of complex interventions in palliative care: An exploration of the potential of case study research strategies. *Palliative Medicine*, 25, 774-781. doi:10.1177/0269216311419883
- Ward, A. E. (2013). Empirical study of the important elements in the researcher development journey. *Knowledge Management & E-learning*, 5, 42-55. Retrieved from http://www.kmel-journal.org/
- Watkins, D. C. (2012). Qualitative research: The importance of conducting research that doesn't count. *Health Promotions Practice*, *13*, 153-158.
 doi:10.1177/1524839912437370
- Weeks, B. E., & Holbert, R. L. (2013). Predicting dissemination of news content in social media: A focus on reception, friending, and partisanship. *Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly*, 90, 212-232. doi:10.1177/1077699013482906
- White, D. E., Oelke, N. D., Friesen, S. (2012). Management of a large qualitative data set: Establishing trustworthiness of the data. *International Journal of Qualitative*

Methods, 11, 244-258. doi:10.1177/160940691201100305

- White, D., & Hind, D. (2015). Projection of participant recruitment to primary care research: A qualitative study. *Trials*, *16*(1), 473. doi:10.3390/rs70912459
- Whiting, A., & Deshpande, A. (2016). Towards greater understanding of social media marketing: A review. *The Journal of Applied Business and Economics*, 18, 82. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jabeopen.html
- Whiting, A., & Williams, D. (2013). Why people use social media: A uses and gratifications approach. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 16, 362-369. doi:10.1108/QMR-06-2013-0041
- Wilson, C. V. (2012). Post implementation planning and organizational structure of enterprise resource planning systems (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (Order No. 3512581)
- Wilson, D., & Quinton, S. (2012). Let's talk about wine: Does twitter have value? *International Journal of Wine Business Research*, 24, 271-286. doi:10.1108/17511061211280329
- Wisdom, J. P., Cavaleri, M. A., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Green, C. A. (2012).
 Methodological reporting in qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods health services research articles. *Health Services Research*, 47, 721-745.
 doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01344.x
- Won Oak, K. (2012). Institutional review board (IRB) and ethical issues in clinical research. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, 62(1), 3-12. doi:10.4097/ljae.2012.62.1.3

- Wright, E., Khanfar, N. M., Harrington, C., & Kizer, L. E. (2016). The lasting effects of social media trends on advertising. *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, 14(3), 73-80. Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute.com/journals/journal-ofbusiness-economics-research-jber/
- Wulf, K. D., & Odekerken-Schröder, G. (2001). A critical review of theories underlying relationship marketing in the context of explaining consumer relationships. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour*, *31*(1), 73-101. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1111/(ISSN)1468-5914
- Xu, C., Ryan, S., Prybutok, V., & Wen, C. (2012). It is not for fun: An examination of social network site usage. *Information & Management*, 49, 210-217. doi:10.1016/j.im.2012.05.001
- Yadav, M. S., & Pavlou, P. A. (2014). Marketing in computer-mediated environments: Research synthesis and new directions. *Journal of Marketing*, 78(1), 20-40. doi:10.1509/jm.12.0020
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 134-152. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/

Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal* of Education, 48, 311-325. Retrieved from http://www.onlinelibrary.wiley.com

- Yin, R. K., (2011). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2012). *Applications of case study research* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Validity and generalization in future case study evaluations. *Evaluation*, 19, 321-332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081s
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods*. (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2015). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Yoshikawa, H., Kalil, A., Weisner, T., & Way, N. (2013). Mixing qualitative and quantitative research in developmental science: Uses and methodological choices.
 Qualitative Psychology, 1(S), 3-8. doi:10.1037/2326-3598.1.S.3
- Yun, J. (2013). Sacrificing entrepreneurship? The labor politics of small businesses in Korea and Japan. *Korea Observer*, 44, 55-86. Retrieved from http://www.koreaobserver.com
- Zailskaite-Jakste, L., & Kuvykaite, R. (2013). Communication in social media for brand equity building. *Economics & Management*, 18, 142-153.
 doi:10.5755/j01.em.18.1.4163

Appendix A: Participant Interview Questions

In this qualitative research study, the interview consisted of four open-ended and non-directional questions to gain insights and ideas from SB owners of family-style restaurants:

- 1. What social media platforms are you using to increase sales?
- 2. What method do you find works best to increase sales?
- 3. How do your employees respond to your different strategies to increase sales?
- 4. What additional information can you provide regarding the social media strategies that you have implemented to increase net sales?

Appendix B: Multi-Case Study Protocol

Marketing Strategies to Increase Sales in Market Small Family-Style Restaurant Businesses

The following information constitutes the interview protocol for this doctoral study. The purpose of an interview protocol is to provide a step-by-step guide of the interview process.

Before the interview, the researcher will:

- provide each participant with a copy of the interview protocol, a consent form to read and sign, a list of the interview questions, and confirm with each participant they have read and understand each document;
- schedule time, place, and date with the interviewee;
- answer preliminary concerns and questions the participants may have.

During the interview, the researcher will

- obtain a signed consent form, if not already obtained in advance;
- confirm that each participant agrees to be recorded;
- remind the participant that their participation is voluntary;
- remind the participant of their free will to withdraw from the study at any time;
- advise each participant that the researcher will take notes in a journal;
- remind each participant that their identities are confidential;
- address with each participant any concerns regarding the consent form or interview questions;
- ask each participant the interview questions provided to them in advance.
- Apply the member checking technique with each participant to ensure accurate documentation and reflection of their interview response

After the interview, the researcher will

- thank each participant for taking part in the interview;
- transcribe the data and determine if a second interview is necessary;
- send the transcript to the participant for review;
- schedule a second interview for follow-up (if necessary);
- receive affirmation from participant regarding accuracy of the transcription and
- accuracy of data interpretation (via e-mail or telephone); convert all paper documents to digital format; save all files to a thumb drive and lock in a safe for 5 years; and
- destroy all data after 5 years.

After publication, the researcher will

- send the participant a summary of the findings;
- advise the participant of the publication.